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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Kung, Peter

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Mei Kam Kennis (appointed on 20 February 2023)
Mr. Lam Ting Hin (resigned on 20 February 2023)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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Allen & Overy

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
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Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
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P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court,
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBHE

FY2023 FY2022 Change
—EBCo=F —E-—F
MHREE HMRFE H)
HK$'million E&E®ETT  HK$' milion BEHEIT
Revenue 2 16,750.2 22,363.7 -25%
EBITDA* RIBRFIE ~ BiE
T A R A 2,450.3 4,378.6 -44%
Profit before tax* R ATE R 1,276.5 3,451.3 -63%
Net profit attributable to owners  ZxA T35 A FE{L 4 F|
of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E ARG R 991.0 2,002.7 -51%
— Reported net profit —BRE AL 907.4 1,909.1 -52%
Earnings per share FREF
— Based on underlying net profit* —AEARF T E HK31.8 cents HKE4.2 cents 50%
31878l 64271l
— Based on reported net profit —ABREALFIFT & HK29.1 cents HK61.2 cents 509
29.17#1l 61.2/81
Full-year dividend per share BEREZERE HK16.0 cents HK35.0 c\ents _54%
16.078L 35.078 1L
~ Interim dividend per share —BRPHBRE HK®6.0 cents HK15.0 cents 60%
6.07&L 1507841l
- Proposed final dividend per share  — SR AERE HK10.0 cents HK20.0 cents 50%
10.078 1l 20.071L
Net asset value per share SREEFE HK$4.79 HK$4.82 1%
4.79% T 4.82787C
Net gearing FEMELE 16% 7%
16% 7%
* Excluding: . TaE

TECZFREAVELRTFTEEYDZEBR
=THBEATESTEENER
NHFOTFABNTEET -

FY2023: Loss on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$34.9 million and
share-based payments of HK$48.8 million.

T REMERAFEEIZEBR
MTAAATEBTEBROHER
NREUFNEEET -

FY2022: Loss on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$45.6 million and
share-based payments of HK$48.0 million.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Turnover breakdown by products fE [ & £ Z8 5 #f

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY2023
—ZEMBFE

FY2022
T FHHFE

. Glass Epoxy Laminates Paper Laminates . Upstream Materials . Properties . Investments . Others
REF BB IR IR MBI E R Rt FihE wE EAh

BUSINESS REVIEW E RO

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am delighted to report the AABEREEZS([ESEE])  MARSUK

annual results of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Period”).

During the Period, geopolitical conflicts persisted while inflation and
interest rates remained high, leading to weak consumer confidence and
overall subdued demand in the electronics market. In addition, the overall
expansion in laminates production capacity over the previous two years has
led to excess capacity in the industry. Despite the resulting intense market
competition, the Group has successfully leveraged its vertically integrated
supply chain, continuous technological enhancements and stringent cost
control to strengthen its competitive position. Together with active new
business development and end customer certification, the Group now
commands a broader and more diversified clientele network, enabling
the Group to achieve a 3% increase in annual sales volume. However,
segment revenue of the Laminates Division was adversely affected by the
general decline in laminate market’s selling prices. As the remaining saleable
properties diminished, the Property Division recorded a decline in revenue.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

The Group’s revenue decreased 25% over that of 2022 to HK$16,750.2
million. Net profit attributable to owners of the Company was down 51% to
HK$991.0 million. On the basis of a healthy financial position, the Board has
proposed a final dividend of HK10 cents, subject to Shareholders’ meeting
approval.

PERFORMANCE

Laminates Division: The Period saw the electronics industry facing a
decline in demand, but the Laminates Division made satisfactory progress
with its product portfolio enhancement efforts as it actively pursued growth
in new market arenas. There was a continued rise in the sales of high-
end and high-value-added products. This high-end portfolio includes thin
laminates designed for portable devices, lead-free and halogen-free laminates
complying with stringent environmental standards, and fire-resistant laminates
with wide compatibility, as well as high-frequency and high-speed laminates
ensuring low loss and high transmission speed. Segment revenue of the
Laminates Division declined 14% to HK$16,447.8 million. Fierce competition
in the industry during the Period, with selling prices dropping more steeply
than production costs, resulted in a year-on-year decrease in gross
profit margin, leading many industry participants to incur losses in 2023.
Nevertheless, with its experienced management team’s continuous efforts
to raise efficiency and reduce energy consumption through technological
enhancements, and to achieve labour cost savings by increasing automation
at its facilities, the Group has effectively buffered the pressure brought by the
decline in gross profit margin. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation (“‘EBITDA”) were down 21% to HK$2,402.3 million.

Property Division: As the Group continued to focus on the development of
its laminates business, the Property Division was mainly engaged in the sales
of the remaining units. As the number of remaining saleable units diminished,
segment revenue dropped by 93% to HK$226.8 million. EBITDA also down
96% to HK$57.9 million.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s consolidated financial and liquidity position remained robust. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group net current assets and current ratio (current
assets divided by current liabilities) were HK$8,221.6 million (31 December
2022: HK$9,013.7 million) and 2.47 (31 December 2022: 2.91) respectively.

The net working capital cycle increased to 125 days as at 31 December 2023
from 86 days as at 31 December 2022 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, were 71 days (31
December 2022: 51 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtor turnover days, were 86 days (31 December 2022: 66
days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for properties, plant
and equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of creditor turnover days, were 32 days (31 December 2022:
31 days).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of bank
borrowings net of bank balances and cash to total equity) was approximately
16% (31 December 2022: net gearing ratio 7%). In 2023, the Group invested
approximately HK$700 million in new capacity. With the management team'’s
wealth of professional experience, a strong business foundation, and a
solid financial position, the management firmly believes these investments
will generate stable and satisfactory long-term returns for shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”). The ratio of short-term to long-term bank
borrowings stood at 40%:60% (31 December 2022: 5%:95%). The Group
continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. Throughout the
year, the Group did not enter into any material derivative financial instruments,
nor did the Group have any material foreign exchange exposure. The Group’s
revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars,
was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its operating expenses.
The Group possessed adequate financial resources in reserve to fulfil its
requirements for future market developments.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a workforce of approximately
10,000 (81 December 2022: 10,300). In addition to offering competitive salary
packages, the Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to
eligible employees based on the Group’s overall financial achievements and
employees’ individual performance.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to approximately HK$12,441,000 (2022: HK$148,361,000) as at
31 December 2023 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors,
the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023 and
2022,

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.

(b) On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

(continued)

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial was originally listed for a five-day hearing from 16 January
to 20 January 2023. On 7 December 2022, the Petitioner made
an application for a Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda and addressed to the Supreme Court of Singapore
(the “Singapore Letter of Request”) for its assistance in the ordering
against two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents
in their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period at least two months. Further to a hearing on 14
December 2022, the issue of the Singapore Letter of Request and the
adjournment were ordered by the Court. Despite the adjournment,
expert reports were exchanged on 16 November 2022, and a joint
expert report has been filed on or around 22 December 2022.

On 27 July 2023, the Petitioner made an another application for a
Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 24 August
2023, the issue of the Hong Kong Letter of Request was ordered by
the Court on 7 September 2023.

On 18 September 2023, the Petitioner filled a Notice to Admit Facts
requiring the Group to admit several facts related to and/or referred to
in the evidence in support of the Hong Kong Letter of Request. On 28
September 2023, the Group filed a Notice of Non-Admission. The trial
of this matter is to be relisted.

Based on the advice of the Company's Bermuda Counsel to date,
the board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with the claim.
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PROSPECTS

Inventories of PCBs makers and end-user customers have substantially been
cleared up after a downward cycle of nearly two years. Export orders are
gradually picking up, with rapid growth in demand for new energy vehicles
and peripheral products such as charging stations, the popularization of
photovoltaics and other clean energy sources, and widespread application
of artificial intelligence and big data technologies. It is expected that the
laminates market will gradually stabilize and rebound. The Group has
completed the development of low dielectric constant/low thermal expansion
coefficient products for Al computing applications. These products have a high
proportion of domestic materials and are currently undergoing comprehensive
testing with customers. In line with the demands of the Group’s PCBs
production and the industry, the products are actively being introduced to the
market. Furthermore, raw material prices have been consistently dropping
during this market downturn. While this trend has put tremendous price
pressure on the Group’s inventory materials, it is worth noting that almost
all raw materials used in laminates production, save for copper, have now
reached extremely low price points. This is set to improve the Group’s gross
profit margin in 2024. All business units remain steadfast in their commitment
to upholding high quality standards while maintaining effective cost controls. It
is also anticipated that the years of research and development and technical
enhancements invested in by the Group will gradually yield positive results
towards its goal of driving new-quality production, thus achieving high-quality
sustainable growth. Moving forward, the division will continue to collaborate
with premium customers, working together towards the certification of
high-end products by end customers. The Group has plans to expand its
laminates monthly capacities in Thailand in 2024 by 400,000 sheets to cope
with the development pace. Echoing the state’s promotion of energy
saving and emissions reduction, the Group is adopting a professional
and systematic approach in establishing distributed solar photovoltaic
power projects across all buildable area within the facilities in
stages. As of 31 December 2023, the project has received a total
investment of HK$300 million, generating 65 million kWh of green
electricity per year, equivalent to annual energy saving of 18,000 tons
of standard coal, reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 39,000 tons,
and saving HK$58.5 million of electricity expenses when calculated
according to the market price. As of 31 December 2024, the project
will receive an estimated total investment of approximately HK$600
million, expecting to generate 130 million kWh of green electricity per
year, equivalent to annual energy saving of 36,000 tons of standard
coal, reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 78,000 tons, and saving
HK$117 million of electricity expenses when calculated according
to the market price. Besides, with about HK$80 million invested in
thermal energy recovery equipment to reduce 37,000 tons of carbon
dioxide emissions annually, equivalent to annual energy saving of
15,000 tons of standard coal, the Group saves about HK$80 million in
expenses annually, totally saving more than HK$230 million, bringing
long-term benefits. These efforts reflect the Group’s dedication to
achieving the sustainable development goals under its ESG mission.
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P ROS P ECTS (continued)

We have full confidence in the development of the Group. With decades of
experience in the laminates industry and a vertical supply chain integrating
with upstream materials, the Group commands a strong cost advantage
against competitors. It has gained customers’ trust and recognition through
consistent product quality and on-time delivery. In addition to achieving rising
numbers of active clients, the Group is also able to build deeper collaboration
with existing clients. The management remains committed to generating
enhanced retumns for the Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, clients, banks, the management and
employees for their unreserved support to the Group during the past year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 18 March 2024
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEBAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 60, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and Mr.
Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Holdings
Limited (“KHL”) in 1988 and has over 35 years experience in the marketing of
a wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 71, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 1991
and has over 32 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 63, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in
1988 and has over 35 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive Director of Kingboard Copper
Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
whose shares were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”) and had been delisted from SGX on 10 June 2019. Mr.
Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 20086.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 67, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KHL and has over 35 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive Director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 40, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 55, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in
1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities in
Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongging University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive
Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 50, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KHL's
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 72, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Ip is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to our Board.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ip is currently serving as independent non-executive director of six other
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since December
2009, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) since
October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018, Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June 2018
and C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309) since November
2020. Mr. Ip also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, such
as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for
Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in social sciences in September 1973, and he subsequently completed
the program for management development at Harvard University Graduate
School of Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2001 and he was appointed as
an unofficial Justice of the Peace in July 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the nomination
committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government since
1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch network in Hong Kong
(Liaison Office of the Central People’s Government). Since 2000, Mr. Zhang
has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and charitable
organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity such as
chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant, chief
secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving as
the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013
and the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship Association as
well as Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association since 2015. Mr. Zhang
holds a Master degree in Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and
is a research associate thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the
Hong Kong Academy of Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services
Institute as a professor on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since
April 2015, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
also served as an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental
Group Limited up to August 2020, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. KUNG, Peter, aged 61, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 7 June 2021. Mr. Kung is also the chairman
of the audit committee of the Company, and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Kung is
a National Committee Member of the 13th and 14th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC). He is currently Vice President
of Guangdong’s Association For Promotion of Cooperation between
Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao and Guangdong-HK-Macao Bay Area
Entrepreneurs Union. Mr. Kung graduated from the University of Liverpool
in 1984. He is Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also Fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and served as its President from 2007 to 2009. Mr. Kung became partner
of KPMG in 1997, Head of China Tax in Hong Kong and Southern China in
2001, Senior Partner of KPMG'’s Shenzhen office in 2006 and Senior Partner
of KPMG’s Southern China region in 2010. He was Vice Chairman of KPMG
China from 2013 to 2017 and Senior Advisor to KPMG China from 2018 to
2019. Mr. Kung has been serving as an independent non-executive director
and chairman of the audit committee of ORIX Asia Limited, and a member of
the board and the chairman of the audit committee of eBRAM since 2020 and
2021, respectively. Mr. Kung is appointed as an independent non-executive
director and audit committee member of SmarTone Telecommunications
Holdings Limited in March 2022. He is also an independent non-executive
director and chairman of audit committee of CCB International (Holdings)
Limited since June 2023. Mr. Kung is appointed as a Council Member of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Kwok Ming, aged 59, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 1 January 2022. Mr. Ho is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company, and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Ho has more than 34 years
of experience in corporate and commercial banking. Having worked at
Standard Chartered Bank for over 24 years, from 1991 to 1994 and from
2000 to 2021, he served as Managing director, Co-Head of Client Coverage
of Corporate, Commercial and Institutional Banking in Hong Kong from 2020
to 2021. At Standard Chartered Bank, he also held a number of other senior
positions. From 2015 to 2020, he was Managing director, Regional Head of
Commercial Banking, covering Greater China and North Asia. He also served
on the Regional Executive Committee and was a member of the management
team of Greater China and North Asia. Prior to that, he was Managing
director, Head of Local Corporates and International Corporates from 2012 to
2014. Mr. Ho was appointed as Vice-Chairman of the Crystal Climate Charity
Foundation in November 2022. Mr. Ho was awarded an Executive MBA from
the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University and The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2004. He graduated from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1987 with a bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 56, joined KHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan, Lianzhou and Shaoguan
the PRC. Mr. Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Textiles. Prior to joining KHL, he had over 16 years’
experience in the glass fabric industry.

Ms. Ng Mei Kam Kennis, aged 51, is the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”), joined the Group in 2004. Prior to that, she was
a financial controller of Elec & Eltek International Holdings Limited. Ms. Ng is
a Fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy from University of Sunderland in United
Kingdom. She has over 29 years of work experience in accounting.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained
in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report is available on our website on the same
date of publishment of this annual report. The English and Chinese
versions of the ESG Report are available on the Company’s website
at https://www.kblaminates.com and the HKEXnews’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk. You may access the ESG Report by clicking “Investor”
on the home page of our website, then selecting “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” under “Reports” and viewing them requires Adobe®
Reader® or browsing through the HKEXnews'’s website.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board of Directors (“Board”) also monitors the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations on a regular basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders (continued)

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long-term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 71.

An interim dividend of HK6.0 cents per share was declared to the
Shareholders during the year. The Directors now recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK10.0 cents per share to the Shareholders on the register
of members of the Company on 18 June 2024 and the retention of the
remaining profit in the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of their listed securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 75 to 77.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium and
special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to the
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2023, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to HK$8,937,896,000
(2022: HK$9,640,570,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December
2023, resulting in decrease in fair value of HK$34,867,000 (2022: decrease
in fair value of HK$45,566,000) which has debited (2022: debited) to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has in aggregate
approximately HK$2,134,256,000 (2022: HK$1,526,070,000) investments
in debt and equity instruments, representing approximately 9% (2022:
approximately 6%) of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
which consist of mostly securities listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and bonds issued by companies also listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. The Group acquired its investments through market
purchase. The Group will from time to time monitor the price movement of
prices in securities and bonds and may adjust its investment portfolio as and
when appropriate.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

The following table sets out the important debt investments held by the Group
as at 31 December 2023. None of the value of the following or any other

EEEEMERERQF

|

BE )

TREEAKRER_T_=F+_A=1—~H
RAEZBEEZEBRRE - BERSHKR - A%E

securities investments of the Group was on standalone or aggregate basis TR EREMBARENEBEORAERNS
5% or more of the total assets of the Company as of the end of the reporting EHEARRN BB EERS%E LA L o
period.
*Accumulated
Fair value fair value
as at % to the loss up to
Number of %of  Investment 31 December Group’s 31 December
Name of investments bondsheld  bonds held cost 2023 total assets 2023
HE
—“BCCE
W-E-z#& +ZA
a=: BAEE  =t-AK
BhES =t-BHK #EE  ZADYE
REAR BAl RERA AYE AAl g
'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i xR i
Bonds listed on Singapore Exchange Securies BN EHERT IR ES R AH
Trading Limited (‘SGX’) by Guangzhou R&F ([3%F)) L2 S
Properties
() fixed coupon inteest 6.5% cash/7.5% 1EE585 2658 /BN
payment-in-kind (‘PIK") per annum and (BN 7B ERRE -
maturity date in July 2025 (‘Group A Notes') HHAACSCRFLA
(TAEZE]) 3,813 0.2% 17,459 1,180 0.005% (16,322)
() fixed coupon rate of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK (IEEFEH£65E /BN
per annum and maturity date in July 2027 TOEZEEZE EEAA
(‘Group B Notes) “E-tErA(BESE)) 36,990 2.4% 252,246 12,465 0.05% (240,648)
269,705 13,645 0.055% (256,970)
* Including the impairment loss recognised in profit or loss with gross amount of * BIERSHEANCNEEPER ZAEREL
HK$270,000 (31 December 2022: HK$186,501,000) during the reporting period, R270,0008 (=T =_=_F+=-A=+—8:
and the accumulated loss recognised in profit or loss with gross amount of 186,501,000 7T) AR B&RPIERZ 25HE

HK$186,771,000.

In terms of bond investments, the Group retained a certain number of listed
bonds in order to generate stable and fixed interest income as the investment
strategy. The Group’s bond portfolio (including those as set out in the above
table) totalled a fair value of HK$96,452,000 as at 31 December 2023 and
the corresponding total investment cost was HK$347,705,000. During the
year, interest income from bond investments amounted to HK$4,342,000
representing a decrease of approximately 49% compared to HK$8,433,000
with 2022.

Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) is
principally engaged in the properties sector.

R4 FE186,771,0008 7T °

HEFREME  AEERBETHEMN LD
EH  UWEEABEREEOMNEWMAEREK
BXB RZZEZ_=F+ZA=+—H ' &
SEMNEBESFREAS (RELEMEE)AT
B4 $£96,452,0007% 7t R FEE MR E KA E
H 5347,705,00087C - RAFRN - EBHEE
B B A 54,342,000 7T M- T - —4F
8,433,000/ TR L #949% ©
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022
and 11 July 2022, GRFP conducted the Consent Solicitations in June 2022
to seek waivers of existing and potential consequential Defaults or Events of
Default under the Notes and to extend its debt maturity profile. GRFP offered
Eligible Holders of each Series of the Notes an opportunity to consent to,
among others, the extension of the maturity date of such Series of the Notes,
which will allow GRFP to improve its overall financial condition and maintain a
sustainable capital structure. In July 2022, GRFP completed the above debt
restructuring scheme.

During the reporting period, the Group did not acquire or sell the above GRFP
debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

According to above announcements, GRFP were not able to pay the bond
interests due to its adverse financial condition. The Group had performed an
impairment assessment on the debt instruments held under the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model. The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default and loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default), with the assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default being based on historical data and forward-looking information.
The estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights, and also with reference to the time value of money. In determining
ECL on the Group’s debt instruments for the year, the management had
taken into accounts factors including the defaults of the bond issuer in
making payments of interest and principal for its indebtedness, and forward-
looking information including the future macroeconomic conditions at places
where the bond issuer is operating.

The Group recognised impairment loss under ECL model of HK$270,000
in profit or loss for the reporting period and the accumulated ECL of
HK$186,771,000 on the above GRFP debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income by reference to exposures at default, recovery
rate and adjustments for forward looking information.
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| NVESTM E NTS (continued)

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022
and 11 July 2022: () The GRFP Group A Notes consisting of the 2022 Notes,
the July 2022 Notes and the November 2022 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5%
PIK senior notes due 2025”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in
July 2025. The GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2025 are listed
on the SGX and carry an interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5%
cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2025 were mainly for refinancing medium to
long-term debt that will be due within one year and offshore refinancing; (ii)
The GRFP Group B Notes consisting of the 2023 Notes, the February 2023
Notes and the August 2023 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes
due 2027”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July 2027. The
GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior notes due 2027 are listed on SGX and
carry an interest of 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% cash/7.5% PIK senior
notes due 2027 were mainly for refinancing debt and for general corporate
purposes of GRFP and offshore refinancing. According to the 2023 annual
results announcement of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP
increased to 262% at 31 December 2023 from 171% at 31 December 2022.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Company’s equity instruments consist primarily of listed shares of a
cluster of wide-ranging primarily blue-chip listed issuers as at 31 December
2023. During the year, the dividend income from equity instrument at fair
value through profit or loss is HK$71,283,000, and the amount of loss on
fair value changes of equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss
is HK$69,854,000. The Company’s investment strategy of these equity
investment is to make mid-to long-term investments in the prospects of
primarily reputable sizeable issuers on recognizable stock exchange for
creating values for the Group and its Shareholders, with the risks involved
balanced and moderated by the diversity of the portfolio and the corporate
governance and disclosures of such issuers. There was no equities securities
investment in an investee company with a value of 5 per cent or more of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2023.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

Our investment portfolio is comprised mainly of listed securities of a variety
of blue-chip listed companies and debt securities issued by creditable
listed companies in Hong Kong. Our investment objective is to generate
stable interest and dividend income and create value of the Group and its
Shareholders.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Expenditure of HK$1,159,117,000 was incurred during the year primarily to
expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in
property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are
set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Kung, Peter

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, being executive Directors,
and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Kung, Peter, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire from directorship by rotation and will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and their associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”)

Name of Directors Capacity

EEHR EEMtE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse

SREIEE SR A ERBBEAN Tk
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner
RRFEE EmEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
SRE5R T4 EmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SREYF S EmBEAA
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MRE L4 EmBEAA
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Beneficial owner
9P EmBEAA
Mr. Kung, Peter Beneficial owner

BEK{BAEL EmBEAA
Note:

1 75,000 shares were held by his spouse.
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
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EARRE
e 81T ERITREZ
R B E BYBEDL
9,517,000 0.3050%
216,000 0.0069%
2,502,000 0.0802%
3,000,000 0.0962%
3,303,000 0.1059%
350,000 0.0112%
60,000 0.0019%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (onineg =232 BRI ES «)

Long position (continued) REW@)
(b)  Share options of the Company (“Share Options”) (b) AATBREERED

Interest in
underlying Shares
pursuant to the

Name of Directors Capacity Share Options
RIBERER

EEpE EEME BFEROHNER

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner 12,000,000

SREIZE S A4 BEmEBA

Mr. Chang Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 12,000,000

SR 58 5 A BEmEBA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner 12,000,000

SREIT S BEmEB A

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 12,000,000

MRELE BEmlEB A

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 4,000,000

RRELHE BEmiEB A

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng Beneficial owner 2,000,000

[R5 A BEmEB A

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming Beneficial owner 1,000,000

o] B985 A BEmlEBA

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Beneficial owner 1,000,000

Sy 1peh BEmEBA

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 1,000,000

REKREE BEmEB A

Mr. Kung, Peter Beneficial owner 1,000,000

BB A BEmEBA

Further details of the Share Options and the Directors’ interests in
them are available in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and

Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of this Report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

(c)

Note:

Name of Directors

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
SREIZESE A4

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

SR8 S A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

SREI S AE
Mr. Lam Ka Po

MRELLE

Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Capacity
ERtE

Beneficial owner
EnlEEA
Beneficial owner
BB A
Beneficial owner
EnlEEA
Beneficial owner
E=EAA

None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is

held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any

distribution on winding up.

(d) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (“KHL”), the ultimate holding company of the Company

Name of Directors
EEnE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa'

Capacity
FERME

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse

SR B EE S A T EnlEA AN FERER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping? Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
o B 4 A2 ERmE AN TiBkEs
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MRELE BalEB A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
SR B 98 S A ERBEBA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner
RRFFHE BmlEA A
Mr. Lo Ka Leong Interest of spouse
BREE [RLEp

Notes:

1 74,400 KHL's shares were held by his spouse.

2 36,000 KHL's shares were held by his spouse.

EEEEMERERQF

ESZRMER®

REW@®

() FRARZERFZMEBARRBEER
FRARBREAEIETZERERE
ERA

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

R ERERELEROEE
(Note)
(PffEE)

1,058,000

529,000

952,200

581,900
s - AKESESERERERERARZ
BRFERLERD - ZFELERND L E
M AT EUR BT B IR A R A BRI
RRGBESHHFERAGENE L&
RN TS B BB SR B BR R

ERERDIRZ ERET -

d FRRBKERARZEEEFRLA

(TEEEE ) BREMEI10BTZERE

®
Number Approximate
of issued percentage of the
ordinary issued share
shares held capital of KHL
R IHREEEE BT
ZERROHE RAEZBHNE DL
17,123,820 1.5450%
7,236,383 0.6529%
2,500,000 0.2256%
2,610,222 0.2355%
484,000 0.0437%
50,000 0.0045%
B e
! 74,4000% i85 R E BB RFA -
2 36,000/ it R EBCBRFA -

B FFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2023.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of 31 December 2023 in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by any controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2023, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following Shareholders had notified
the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long position

Name of Shareholders Notes Nature of interest
RER AR Mzt  RERME
Hallgain Management Limited (@), ) Interest of controlled
(“Hallgain”) corporations
R thEEER
KHL (©) Beneficial owner
jeayEt S EmEAA
Interest of controlled
corporations
RS EEER
Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) (d) Beneficial owner
EmBEAA
Interest of controlled
corporation

Capital Research and Management
Company

RmthEEE R
Investment manager
RELKIE

The letter “L” denotes a long position.

At 31 December 2023, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors are not accustomed to
acting in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung Kwok
Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also directors
of Hallgain.

The interests are held by KHL directly and indirectly. KHL is owned as to
approximately 42.54% by Hallgain as at 31 December 2023.

The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a director of Jamplan.

The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

EHEERERBRLF

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Number of share capital

issued shares held of the Company
BT EARD B BT

R BB REZBHOBEDL
2,301,434,000 (L) 73.76%
117,635,500 (L) 3.77%
2,183,798,500 (L) 69.99%
1,785,000,000 (L) 57.21%
398,798,500 (L) 12.78%
177,205,851 (L) 5.68%

[LIFRERE -

R-ZZE-_=F+=-A=+—0 " () FEHallgain
IR A Hallgainft B A & 1718 sk E 2 sk R
EHIFTE =9 — sk A L2 FRORME - MHallgain &
HESUMERBBEMREIERTSE  R()E
HREZESE  REFAERMRELENA
Hallgain > &% -

BEREEEEREEREZSER - N_F==
F+=-A=+—A - Hallgainf B B EEREL

42 54% % °

Jamplan&# Kk EEFEZE#EE - JamplanZ
EBREEZZEREMBLAR - EEMNKELE
N AJamplanZ £5 -

JamplanZiBH 2 EHEH B AREEREBR

AR(GEERE DHERERS S - EERE
FERERKATEENBEEREZES -

—FEFR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principles of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. For further
information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during the year,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KHL Group, being
subsidiaries of KHL other than the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “KHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable
to the KHL Group was approximately 21%. The Group’s second largest
customer was Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and
the percentage of sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was 3%. The
percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
combined was less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. During the year,
the percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and
the five largest suppliers combined were 14% and 29%, respectively. The
percentage of purchases attributable to KHL, one of the Group’s five largest
supplier was 4%.

As at 31 December 2023, KHL, a shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling shareholder of KHL, had
beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none
of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2023, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@) KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed to
supply copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into a new
supply framework agreement (the “2021 KLHL/Hallgain SFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates
to the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023.
Under the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the amount of copper and
laminates to be supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the products under the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to
the individual orders placed by the Hallgain Group with the Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$625,000,000, HK$687,000,000 and HK$755,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

In anticipation of the expiry of the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain SFA by the
end of 2023, on 31 October 2023, the Company entered into a
supply framework agreement with Hallgain (“the 2024 KLHL/Hallgain
SFA”) in relation to the supply of copper and laminates by the Group
to the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2026. The annual caps for the three years ending
31 December 2026 are HK$563,000,000, HK$580,000,000 and
HK$597,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint
announcement dated 31 October 2023.

EHEERERBRLF
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase materials for production of laminates such as drill bits and
machineries from the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into a new
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase machineries for production of laminates from
the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the
“2021 KLHL/Hallgain PFA”). Under the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain PFA,
the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the machineries under the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be subject
to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$570,000,000, HK$610,000,000 and HK$653,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19
July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial Shareholder,
and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

In anticipation of the expiry of the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain PFA by the end
of 2023, on 31 October 2023, the Company entered into purchase
framework agreement with Hallgain (“the 2024 KLHL/Hallgain
PFA”) in relation to the purchase of machineries for production of
laminates from Hallgain Group by the Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. The annual caps for
the three years ending 31 December 2026 are HK$249,000,000,
HK$256,000,000 and HK$264,000,000, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s joint announcement dated 31 October 2023 for
information.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

KLHL/KHL MPA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a materials
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase Chemicals from the KHL Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021 and 21 November 2019, taking into account the
increasing trend in the transaction volume, the Company and KHL
entered into a new materials purchase framework agreement (the
“2021 KLHL/KHL MPA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase Chemicals from the KHL Group from 19 July 2021 to 31
December 2023. Under the 2021 KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of
Chemicals to be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to
be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and the price (with reference to
prevailing market price) of the Chemicals under the 2021 KLHL/KHL
MPA will be subject to the individual orders placed by Group with
the KHL Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years ending
31 December 2023 are HK$1,200,000,000, HK$1,284,000,000 and
HK$1,374,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MPA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

In anticipation of the expiry of the 2021 KLHL/KHL MPA by the end
of 2023, on 31 October 2023, the Company entered into a material
purchase framework agreement with KHL (“the 2024 KLHL/KHL
MPA”) in relation to the purchase of Chemicals by the Group from
the KHL Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2026. The annual caps for the three years ending
31 December 2026 are HK$799,000,000, HK$823,000,000 and
HK$848,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 31 October 2023, and the Company’s
announcement dated 21 November 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

KLHL/KHL SSFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to supply laminates and related upstream materials and to
provide drilling services to the KHL Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and KHL entered into a new
supply and service framework agreement (the “2021 KLHL/KHL
SSFA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and
related upstream materials to the KHL Group from 19 July 2021 to
31 December 2023. Under the 2021 KLHL/KHL SSFA, the amount
of laminates and related upstream materials to be sold and the
drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed but are to
be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream materials
and the drilling services to be provided under the 2021 KLHL/KHL
SSFA will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KHL Group
with the Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years ending
31 December 2023 are HK$4,900,000,000 HK$5,243,000,000 and
HK$5,610,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 19 July 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and that KHL and
members of the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

In anticipation of the expiry of the 2021 KLHL/KHL SSFA by the end
of 2023, on 31 October 2023, the Company entered into a supply
and service framework agreement with KHL (“the 2024 KLHL/KHL
SSFA”) in relation to the supply of laminates and related upstream
materials by the Group to the KHL Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. The annual caps for
the three years ending 31 December 2026 are HK$4,491,000,000,
HK$4,626,000,000 and HK$4,765,000,000, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 31 October 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions were entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company considers that Hallgain and KHL, owner of approximately
39% of issued shares of KHL as of the date of the above mentioned 2021
agreements and controlling shareholder of the Company, respectively, are
reliable business co-operation partners and such co-operations are beneficial
to the business of the Company and the Group as a whole. The Company
considers that the above continuing connected transactions facilitate its
business plan and will improve the competitiveness and the quality of the
laminates manufactured by the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2023
disclosed by the Group on pages 33 to 36 of the annual report in accordance
with Listing Rule 14A.38. The auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to
its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the table below.

Sales of goods to the KHL Group under
the 2021 KLHL/KHL SSFA

Purchase of goods from the KHL Group under
the 2021 KLHL/KHL MPA

Sales of laminates and copper foil to Hallgain
Group under the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain SFA
IR N 355

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

BAER S )

TR EXFBRBECBE—T_=F+_H
=t REFENBERERZ2FELERR

ERRHEHE -

BE-Z-—FEEERERB2EEH
HRE R RBER BRHE Em

BE-T - —FEEREER2E5H
MHBEERBEAEEEERBER

RIE =T = —F@EHEER,Hallgain
H FEAE2E 95 (A Hallgain e [ $5 % B iR

Purchase of machineries from the Hallgain Group 1Bi% — & — — BB ER, HalganE E

under the 2021 KLHL/Hallgain PFA

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2023.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Amounts Annual caps
S8 FELR
HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
3,488,683 5,610,000
586,463 1,374,000
455,085 755,000
119,788 653,000
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee after consultation with the Chairman having regard to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business of
the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2023 were within the following bands:
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HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001k A £ 1
Total: et 2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “KLHL Scheme”) was
approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 29 May 2017
and the KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval from the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose of the
KLHL Scheme was to provide incentive or reward to the eligible participants
of the KLHL Scheme for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group.

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company (including the
exercise price, exercisable period and vesting period) are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued BRERTE
The following table discloses movements in the share options during the year: TRBBRERENERNZ#
Outstanding Outstanding
as at 1 January Granted during as at 31 December
2023 the year 2023
R-B-=F R-B=-=%F
—H—H +=HA=+—H
o RATHE REARH e RATBE
Category 1: Directors F1fE - EE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa REE S AE 6,000,000 6,000,000 12,000,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Keung SRER ST 6,000,000 6,000,000 12,000,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping SREF S 6,000,000 6,000,000 12,000,000
Mr. Lam Ka Po MREELE 6,000,000 6,000,000 12,000,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RRFIE 2,000,000 2,000,000 4,000,000
Mr. Zhou Pei Feng EEFIE L 1,000,000 1,000,000 2,000,000
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Pt 500,000 500,000 1,000,000
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu SREKRIE 500,000 500,000 1,000,000
Mr. Kung, Peter BB 500,000 500,000 1,000,000
Mr. Ho Kwok Ming RIS S A& 500,000 500,000 1,000,000
29,000,000 29,000,000 58,000,000
Category 2: Employees (Note) Fo88 - BB (M5E) 7,900,000 6,900,000 14,800,000
36,900,000 35,900,000 72,800,000
Note:  Including 10,800,000 Share Options held by Ms. Cheung Wai Kam, spouse of Mr. s BREEEEEESMMELENES  RESK
Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. Ms. Cheung Wai Kam also is an associate of Director 1 FTH#$10,800,00017 I 1 © SRIE & L TIRIK
by virtue of her relationship with several executive Directors of the Company. She is BHEANBBUEENHEBRESHEA - &
the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok BRBESLE  RERAEERTRTEENA
Ping. Ms. Cheung Wai Kam was granted 4,900,000 share options on 28 July 2023. ko RESLALTR T -_=FtA=-+N\BE
Save as disclosed above, these 6,900,000 share options were granted to employees $54,900,00017 BB A% 4 PR ESCRTIREEE SN - B
during the year ended 31 December 2023 who are neither a Director, chief executive HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE ' %5
nor substantial shareholder of the Company nor their respective associates. 6,900,000 BERRIE TR T A FEARFESE - &
BITBRABSEFERRZ EENHRES A2
Ao

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES BEERMASE4 28
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, B XX EES - AQF - HImBRA RS ET
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party AT BT /BB 7~ B 2k [B) R BT /B 2~ B) A F AL {r] B R AR
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of |BEFTTMLTH  MEEFAHEBEALRR
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body RIS HAbE A B 8E 2 IR (D ek &5 M o
corporate.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company had maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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EEERE

AUDITOR =B A

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the EEEE) 0 Bl m R 5 @ ETRITT AN FAZ BLED
Company will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming ZRERERANEEERRAFTFRE LIRS
annual general meeting of the Company. LAGERAR R HEAE ©

On behalf of the Board EEEGD

Cheung Kwok Wa FE

CHAIRMAN RENEE

18 March 2024 —ZomE=A+NH
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted the principles of corporate governance and
complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code under Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.

During the year under review, the Board had held 4 meetings and the
Company held one general meeting. The Directors’ attendance at the
Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and general meetings
was as follows:

Board
Meeting
-
g
Number of Meeting g1 4
Executive Directors HIEE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) 4
Cheung Kwok Keung SREI
(Managing Director) (EEH1E) 4
Cheung Kwok Ping KB 4
Lam Ka Po HRE 4
Cheung Ka Ho FRR 4
Zhou Pei Feng 5 4
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Lo Ka Leong EZX%n 4
Independlent non-executive Directors BV 357 7EE
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen un 4
Zhang Lu Fu REX 4
Kung, Peter ke 4
Ho Kwok Ming Bl 4
Note:

1 “General Meeting” refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held
on 29 May 2023 and extraordinary general meeting held on 18 December
20283.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles with the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

o exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 11 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors
Kung, Peter

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Ho Kwok Ming

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho. Save as
disclosed, no member of the Board shares any relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships)
with another member of the Board.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of eleven
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by Shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the Shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and the reasons given by the Director for this
resignation shall be included in the announcement.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with care and due diligence in accordance with his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well-considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A %%(ﬁ:
Responsibilities of Directors (continued) BEEE5E®H)
During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the CEAFENRN - EFREL T HFI -

following trainings:

Attending or
participating

in the briefing
session/seminars/
programmes
relevant to

the business/
Directors’ duties

HERSHE
BEAXY EBRHK
wENE
Name of Directors BEEnE BE#E, 5HE
Executive Directors: HITES !
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REAE(ERE) v
Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) KBNS (BB LIE) V
Cheung Kwok Ping KRB N
Lam Ka Po MKRE N
Cheung Ka Ho KRS N
Zhou Pei Feng EEE N
Non-executive Director: FHITES !
Lo Ka Leong BRE v
Independent non-executive Directors: BIFEHITES :
Kung, Peter Bk (= \
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen i 5p2z] vV
Zhang Lu Fu REX vV
Ho Kwok Ming {A] B IE N
The Directors confirmed that they have complied with code provision EEWR  BEETEEESEI 2T
C.1.4 of the Code on Directors’ training. AISFANEECA 416 o
Supply of and access to information ERRHERFER
The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the ARrlERERAEERKRESGRHE
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in TE  AEREERANEENER -
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them NEEESEHABEREREITIERE
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and BEVBBREMT - 2REFHAENKR
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and B EBANRSREEAER ©

independent access to the Company’s senior management.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board reviewed and considered that the following key features or
mechanisms under Company’s governance structure are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

Board and committees’ structure

° The Company has been steered by a Board comprising
almost half of non-executive Directors. The Board comprises
six executive Directors, one non-executive Director and four
independent non-executive Directors.

o Members of all board committees are non-executive Director
or independent non-executive Directors.

Independent non-executive Directors’ tenure

o The Directors’ nomination policy of the Company sets a
maximum tenure of nine consecutive years for independent
non-executive Directors unless the Board determines that
such Director is still independent.

Independent non-executive Directors’ remuneration

° Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committee(s) as
appropriate.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

BOARD INDEPENDENCE (continued)

Appointment of independent non-executive Directors

o In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination
Committee will review their profiles, including their qualification
and time commitment, having regard to the Board’s
composition, the Directors’ skill matrix, the list of selection
criteria approved by the Board, its nomination policy and the
board diversity policy.

Annual review of independent non-executive Directors’
independence
o The Board assessed the annual independence
confirmation received from each independent non-
executives Director, having regard to the criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing Rules.

Conflict management

° The Articles of Association of the Company and internal
guidelines of the Company provide guidance to the
Directors on avoiding conflicts of interest and on the
circumstances under which appropriate action(s) shall
be taken by the Director in conflict.

Professional advice

. To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors
are entitled to seek advice from the company secretary
or the in-house legal team as well as from independent
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

Board evaluation

° The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board
meetings are assessed during the annual evaluation of
the Board’s performance.
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%%iﬁﬁ
EEENBIME)

ZEEBYFHITES
. ERHEIREANSBIER - 124
ZEgHREEFSNMER B
%m& EREME - BEEEHENE
HZREE  HIREBEKES
QﬁEyEMﬁ%’gﬁﬁ%W
B BREEENEEIIRADN
EfE o

BYFBTESB Y 2 FEEMN

. EXZSE2ZIRLETRAUE
31BfFRHIEER] - FHE BB LI
TEENFREBIUIMRERE

FHRER

. EN/NS SRR e il DN NN
B A EB 3 5| B A E 58 IR A
BAFRNIGEN T & BERIUE
BITBIMESRMEIES -

HXER

. REZRITEBE  2REFY
BEM A BWELAEERE K
AR EXBRZSRER &

AR AR -

SR

el
1% 8 S
£ -

B FFR



O

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Kung,
Peter, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Ho Kwok Ming, to formulate policies
and procedures for determining the remuneration of Directors and
senior management and other remuneration related matters. The
Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of reference
which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by the Board,
including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

° recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 136 to 139 in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee has also approved the grant of share
options under the Scheme to its Directors and employees of the
Group on 28 July 2023. Taking into account the performance and
contributions of such Directors and employees during the year, the
Remuneration Committee considered appropriate to grant such
options as a reward for their services and an incentive for them to
continue to contribute to the growth of the Group’s business.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

Grant of share options on 28 July 2023

The Share Option Scheme does not provide for any minimum vesting
period. In relation to the grant of shares options on 28 July 2023,
the Board and the Remuneration Committee are of the view that a
vesting period shorter than 12 months is appropriate considering that
the grants of share options serve as a recognition of the grantee’s
past contribution to the Group or outstanding performance in the
preceding financial year and incentivise the grantee to continuously
contribute to the operation, development and long-term growth of the
Group. The share options are exercisable at a fixed exercise price,
which aligns the grantees’ interests with that of the Company, as
they will benefit more from the share options if the Company’s share
price increases. The Board and the Remuneration Committee believe
that such arrangement will motivate the grantees to strive for higher
productivity and financial results of the Company.

There is no performance target attached to the share options. The
grants above are not subject to any clawback mechanism for the
Company to recover, but the options granted shall lapse automatically
if the grantee ceases to be an employee or Director of the Group.

The purpose of the grant of share options is to provide the
participants with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company, and motivate the grantees to optimize their performance
and efficiency, having considered the grantees’ experience, length of
service to the Group and contribution to the Group’s overall business
performance. The Remuneration Committee is of the view that
performance targets are not necessary as (i) the value of the share
options is subject to the market price of the Shares, which, in turn,
depends on the business performance of the Group, to which the
grantees would directly contribute, and the grantees will benefit more
from the share options if the Company’s share price increases; (i) the
number of share options granted to each grantee was determined
after taking into account their contribution for the past financial
periods, such that relevant performance targets have already been
met before any grant is decided to be made. The share options are
also subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme which provides
that the share options will lapse automatically if the grantee ceases
to be an employee or Director of the Group, which could adequately
safeguard the Company’s interests.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

Notwithstanding the absence of the performance target and clawback
mechanism to recover, the Board and the Remuneration Committee
believe that without additional performance target and clawback
mechanism, the grant of the share options could align the interests
of the Grantees with that of the Company and its Shareholders,
provide the grantees with an opportunity to have a personal stake
in the Company, incentivize the grantees to contribute to the future
continuous competitiveness, results of operation and growth of the
Company, reinforce their commitment to long term services of the
Company, and motivate the grantees to optimize their performance
and efficiency, which is in line with the purpose of the Share Option
Scheme.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 65 to 70 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the system
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

. formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

o an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2023, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
systems are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

° review the scope, results and effectiveness of the internal
audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

° nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

° review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear clearly
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which include establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identifications to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services RS MHE

Audit services ZH AR

Non-audit services L ERTS

0} Tax services 0] TSRS

(i) Other services comprising compliance (i) HioRGBREERES -

review, internal control review and ESG
report

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
. to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Kung, Peter (Chairman), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, Mr.
Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Ho Kwok Ming and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened four
meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ho Kwok Ming
(Chairman), Mr. Kung, Peter, Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and Mr.
Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

o identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise; and

° re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened one meeting during which,
among other things, considered which Directors should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, being executive Directors,
and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Kung, Peter, being independent non-
executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All the above-
named Directors were nominated by the Nomination Committee to
stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. During the meeting of the Nomination Committee, it
had considered the policy for the nomination of Directors during the
year ended 31 December 2023, including the nomination procedures,
and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee
to select and recommend candidates for directorship. It had also
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure
that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eleven male
Directors. The Company expects to appoint a Director of different
gender from the existing Board no later than 31 December 2024 in
accordance with the Code. As at the date of this report, the Board
has identified a suitable candidate whom the Board believes will
contribute to the diversity of the Company. To ensure gender diversity
of the Board in a long run, the Group will seek to identify and select
several female individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience
and knowledge in the field of the Group’s business from time to time,
and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess qualities to
become the Board members in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.

The workforce of the Group (including its senior management)
comprised approximately 67% male employees and 33% female
employees as at 31 December 2023. Due to the nature of work in the
industries which the Group conducts its business, the Group mainly
considers factors such as the candidates’ ability and experience,
rather than their gender, in recruiting employees. The Company
remains steadfast in its commitment to fostering workplace diversity.
This commitment is reflected in our ongoing recruitment strategies,
which are designed to attract a broad spectrum of candidates. By
prioritizing diversity in our hiring practices, we aim to build a team that
brings a wide range of perspectives, experiences, and skills to our
organization.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) provide good opportunities for
Shareholders to air their views and ask Directors and management
questions regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the
annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other
corporate communications in a form chosen by each Shareholder.
The notices are also published on the Company’s website at
www.kblaminates.com. Separate resolutions are required at general
meetings on each distinct issue. A Shareholder is permitted to appoint
any number of proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

The Board has also established a written shareholders’” communication
policy setting out the multiple channels for communications with its
shareholders, and for soliciting and understanding the views of the
shareholders and stakeholders of the Company, as disclosed in this
section. The Board has conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy during the
year ended 31 December 2023. To promote effective communication,
the Company maintains a website at www.kblaminates.com, where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public
access. Investors may write directly to the Company or via email to
enquiry@kingboard.com for any inquiries. Having considered the
multiple channels of communication in place, it is satisfied that the
Shareholders’ communication policy has been property implemented
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries and put forward proposals
to the Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.
Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

On 29 May 2023, a special resolution was passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company to amend the existing amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
and to adopt the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company in order to (i) bring the existing amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company up to date and in line with the revised requirements under
the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Cayman Islands; and (ii)
incorporate certain consequential amendments.

An up-to-date version of the articles of association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s articles of association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the
relevant general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 71 to 205, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Key audit matter

HRETSER

Valuation of investment properties

REWELE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective judgements
and estimation uncertainty involved required in determining the
fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of the China (“PRC”)
and the United Kingdom, which was stated at fair value of
HK$1,266 million as at 31 December 2023 with HK$35 million
loss on fair value change recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year then ended.

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair
value based on valuations performed by an independent
qualified valuer (the “Valuer”). The valuation committee of
the Group work closely with the Valuer to determine the
appropriate valuation methodologies and inputs for fair value
measurements. The valuation was determined based on direct
comparison by reference to market transactions of similar
properties taking into consideration of timing of reference
transactions and property-specific adjustment factors.
Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AN E N AHRARETERETEE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

° Understanding management’s process over the
valuation of investment properties, including the
involvement of the Valuer;

° Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity
of the Valuer;
° Understanding the valuation methodologies and key

inputs applied on selected investment properties by
holding discussion with the management and the
Valuer;

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the Valuer’s valuation
methodologies;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
methodologies and key inputs of selected investment
properties underpinning the valuation, based on
available market data; and

° Involving our internal valuation specialists, on a sample
basis, to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of
the valuation methodologies and key inputs of selected
investment properties underpinning the valuation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

ERERBERR A

meBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —Z - =F+_-_HA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
b FET FAT
Revenue - 5 16,750,248 22,363,680
Cost of sales SHEMA (14,073,125) (17,274,238)
Gross profit EF 2,677,123 5,089,442
Other income, gains and losses EmA - Wozs K EsiE 7 100,420 112,931
Distribution expenses baxiz s (426,155) (514,890)
Administrative expenses Tz (791,848) (942,478)
Loss on fair value changes of BEAVEFABSE EmTAZ
equity instruments at fair value N EZEEE
through profit or loss (69,854) (24,780)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments  HEZAFEFARME2EREZ
at fair value through other B TAEZWE
comprehensive income 12,071 -
Loss on fair value changes of WEYMENTEEH 2 A
investment properties (34,867) (45,566)
Impairment losses under expected TRHEEEEEXIE TRATER A
credit loss model on debt Bl 2 EE TR 2 EEE
instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (270) (186,501)
Finance costs [ELEENBIN 8 (273,694) (130,392)
Profit before taxation MR R R Vi A 1,192,926 3,357,766
Income tax expense FRSTRIX 9 (284,282) (1,448,382)
Profit for the year N T 10 908,644 1,909,384
Profit for the year attributable to: AT AT RIEARFZEH
Owners of the Company KATEE A 907,402 1,909,169
Non-controlling interests FEFERE R RS 1,242 215
908,644 1,909,384
Earnings per share FHRER 13
— Basic —HK HK$0.291 HK$0.612
— Diluted — s HK$0.291 HK$0.612
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ek EMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE -=4+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FT
Profit for the year REE R 908,644 1,909,384
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year AN E B2 (2 H) Uiz
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEeREF P EE B HE -
Translation reserve: P W RE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RAmEE2REEMEEZER
to presentation currency = (186,506) (1,884,486)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HERARERE P EEEm 2HA -
profit or loss:
Investment revaluation reserve: TEE S
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEBEREAE TRATE
loss model on debt instruments at fair value FFAHMEEE R BB TR
through other comprehensive ZIBEREE
income included in profit or loss 270 186,501
Fair value loss on debt instruments at fair BATESARMEERE 2 E
value through other comprehensive income BITARZ N FERE (44,641) (38,979)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of B EZRAFEF AR MR
debt instruments at fair value through mZ BB TAMEFRSEEE
other comprehensive income = (12,071) -
(56,442) 147,522
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEMEEZ L (242,948) (1,736,964)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2EW LB 665,696 172,420
Total comprehensive income (expense) AT ATEEAFE2EmKES(ZHE)
for the year attributable to: 4E
Owners of the Company VN/NETE SN 664,793 174,409
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A 903 (1,989)
665,696 172,420
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ll‘l_\ézﬁ\yji%;lﬁ)ﬂv%

At 31 December 2023 A—Z-=F+—-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EB-=HF T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
st FET FA&T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties LEME 14 1,266,313 1,268,425
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 15 7,332,606 7,217,777
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 589,061 585,750
Equity instruments at fair value through & A EFFAEBZ 2 EZ LA
profit or loss 17 356,334 860,415
Debt instruments at fair value through  1ZAFEFFAEMETEEE 2
other comprehensive income (v = 18 96,452 89,532
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWME  BELEREZEN2
property, plant and equipment 101,338 553,269
Deferred tax assets RIS E 19 3,607 3,113
Goodwill EES 20 238 238
9,745,949 10,578,519
Current assets MENEE
Inventories w8 21 2,734,446 2,429,643
Trade and other receivables and B RE i pERBES & IB 2
prepayments 22 3,765,005 3,833,741
Bills receivables FEU =i 22 2,638,096 2,509,628
Properties held for development FERERWE 23 110,816 175,068
Equity instruments at fair value BAFEFABGE  Em TR
through profit or loss 17 1,681,470 561,303
Debt instruments at fair value through 2 A EzF AHMEE RS 2
other comprehensive income BT A 18 - 14,820
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  EUt[E KB E A B FUE 24 859,923 889,018
Taxation recoverable A Y [e1 % 78 - 18,119
Cash and cash equivalents BEhBELEEY 25 2,027,179 3,289,953
13,816,935 13,721,293
Current liabilities TENAE
Trade and other payables B 5 K H M FERBRFK 26 2,257,166 2,544,365
Bills payables JER R 26 477,593 474,379
Contract liabilities AHatE 26 347,123 374,150
Dividends payable R RRF 187,200 468,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 563 560
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ANIEE I PNGIE ¢ 24 46,767 47 587
Taxation payable FESRIIE 519,813 598,525
Bank borrowings — amount due RITERE - —FRIIH 2 HIE
within one year 28 1,759,086 200,000
5,595,311 4,707,566
Net current assets mBEEFE 8,221,624 9,018,727
Total assets less current liabilities BEHEBERREARE 17,967,573 19,592,246

B FFR



O KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBMRRR
2023 2022
—EC=HF T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MosE FH&T FET
Non-current liabilities B IR
Lease liabilities HERE 27 1,075 1,293
Deferred tax liabilities REBHIEEE 19 298,953 318,962
Bank borrowings — amount due RITEE —— &2 HZIE
after one year 28 2,692,308 4,200,000
2,992,336 4,520,255
Net assets BEFE 14,975,237 15,071,991
Capital and reserves A& R b
Share capital A% A 29 312,000 312,000
Reserves i 14,639,235 14,736,892
Equity attributable to owners RABGEE NEER
of the Company 14,951,235 15,048,892
Non-controlling interests FEIERR A I 24,002 23,099
Total equity BARIBEE 14,975,237 15,071,991

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 205 were approved EFEEN_TNF=AT/\AEHAERRE
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 March 2024 and are HEET1E206E 2 iR M B - Wl T

signed on its behalf by: BEEREREE
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
REIE REIR
Director Director
BEFE BFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE -=4+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRREEARLE
Share-
Property  Investment hased Non-
Share Share  Translation  revaluation  revaluaton  payments  Specil  Statutoy  Goodwil  Refained controling Total

capital  premium TeSeve  feseve  feSeve  feSenve  reseve  reSene  Tesene profs  Sub-ofal  interests equity
WEEM  REEf  RAVA
RE RiEE  EXGE it BE  NREE RABE iTEE  BEER REE G FERER  ERLE
HKGO00  HKS000  HKS0O0  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSOO0  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$000
Thr TR AT  TEn  TER TR TR TEr  TEr  TEn TR TET TAr
Note30) ~ (Notea) ~ (Noteh)  (Notec)
(Weso)  (Kit) (o) (Miko)

Balance at 1 Janvary 2022 A -F-—F-f-F
ke 312000 2,131,768 1,514372 7268 (165,662) - 757089 1588845 266911 12,635,292 19,038,483 26641 19,065,124

Proft for the year RERET - - - - - - - ) - 108160 1909169 2
Bchengediferences  EfEZERERREL

aisngfom trandationto~ ZEXZE

presentation currency - - (182260 - - - - - - - (18R ) (1884480
Impaimentlosses under  BEEREEEAETE

expected ceditlossmodel - AFEHAZ 2N

ondebtingiumentsat  FZERTAZGES

farvalue though other -~ 8

I3

1,909,384

comprehensive income

included in profit or loss - - - - 186,501 - - - - - 186,501 - 186,501
Farvduelossondebt — RAFEFAER2ENR

instruments at fai HERIEZLTE

value through other F

comprehensive income - - - - (38979 - - - - - 38919 - (38979
Totd compretensie  AEEEH2RE(LE)

(expense) income liiaio

for the year - - (1882282 - 4752 - - - - 1909169 174409 (1989 172420
Dividends paid to BRHERER RS

non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,55 (1,553
Recogriton of equity-settled FEZMERSEERN

share-based payments /AR - - - - - 8000 - - - - B0 - B0
Finel didend paid oHEE-3-%

forthe year ended TZRZ+-BLEER

31 December 2021 LrERE (i)

Note 12 - - - - - - - - - BT (3744000 - T
Interim dvidend payable  EREZE-E--%

forthe year ended +ZBZt-BItEE

31 December 2022 LERE (Kite)

(Note 12) - - - - - - - - - (468,000)  (468,000) - (468,000
Transfer to reserve STRE - - - - - - - B4 - [502479) - - -

- - - - - 430 - 4T T 4164000 (1589 (4165559

Balance at i
31 December 2022 ToAZH-BzER 312000 2181768 (367.910) 7,268 (18140) 48000 757,689 2001320 256911 9829986 15,048,892 23,009 15,071,991




KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

O

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

RO AE
Share-
Property Investment based Non-
Share Share Translation revaluation revaluation payments  Special  Statutory  Goodwill  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests equity
WEERE  REER  ROKA
kA RiEE EXGE it ffff (FBE SRR tEEE HERE  REE Nt FERER  EA4E
HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
TAn  TEn  THR  THn  TRr  TEr  TEn  TER  ThEn  TEn  TEr  TEn TR
(Note 30) ~ (Notea)  (Noteb)  (Notec)
(Wa%0)  (Wda)  (WEb) (W)
Balance at 1 Janvary 2023 -5 -=F-f-F
ke 312000 2,131,768 (367,910) 7268 (18140) 48000 757,689 2,091,320 256911 9,829,986 15,048,892 23,009 15,071,991
Proft for the year KEEET - - - - - - - - - o002 G042 142 90864
Bchengediferences  EfEZERERREL
aisngfom trandationto~ ZEX 2%
presentation currency - - (186,167) - - - - - - - (186,167) (339)  (186,506)
Impaimentlosses under  BEEREEEAETE
expected ceditlossmodel - AFEHAZ 2N
ondebtingiumentsat  FzERTAZGES
farvalue thoughother 8
comprehensive income
included in profit or loss - - - - 210 - - - - - 210 - 210
Farvduelossondebt  RAFEFAERZEN
instruments t fair B ERIEZLTE
value through other F
comprehensive income - - - - (44641) - - - - - (4464) - (M4641)
Reclassifyto proft or HERDTE AL
lossupondisposal o~ 2EAEZEBIAR
dedtinstumentat i EFHEERR
value through other
comprehensive income - - - - (12071) - - - - - (1201) - (12071)
Totd compretensie ~ AEE2A(LE)
(expense) income liiaiod
forthe year - - (186167) - () = - - - TA 6649 03 665606
Recogiton of equity-setted FELNEREENRAT
share-based payments LT3 - - - - - 48780 - - - - 48780 - 48750
Final dividend paid BH#E-5-C
forthe year ended TIR=T-BLEE
31 December 2022 RHERE (HEt2)
(Note 12) - - - - - - - - - (624000)  (624,000) - (624000)
Interim dvidend payatle ~ EREZE-E-=%
fortheyearended 31 +ZE=t-RILEE
December 2023 LHERE (HH2)
Note 12) - - - - = = = - - (1872000 (187.200) - (187200
Transfer to reserve BRnhE - - - - - - - 291406 - (291,406) - - -
- - - - - 48750 - 201,406 - (1,102606)  (762,450) - (162,450)
Balance at i
31 December 2023 TIRZT-HzER 312000 2131768 (554,077) 7268 (74582 96,750 757,689 2,382,726 256911 9,634,782 14951235 24002 14,975,287
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE -=4+_A=+—HILFE

Notes:

(@) Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the net asset
value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the
reduction in the registered capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

(b) Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
PRC for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries and funds shall be used to (i)
make up prior year losses or (i) expand production operations.

(c) Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.
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o KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE -=4+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EC=F B
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
Profit before taxation B A7 BT A 1,192,926 3,357,766
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - MENEZEBZITE 886,072 781,491
Loss on fair value changes of equity AT E B ZHERTAE Y
instruments at fair value through profit or loss NEEEEEE 69,854 24,780
Finance costs BEKAK 273,694 130,392
(Reversal of write-down) write-down of (HMUREE D MR TF &
inventories (121,267) 454,513
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 14,034 15,367
Gain on disposal of debt instruments at fair HERANFEFAEMEERKZEZ
value through other comprehensive income BB ITAEZ W (12,071) -
Net impairment reversed recognised on trade B ZEWER R IER 2 ERRIRIE
receivables FE (98,507) (28,778)
Interest income on bank balances and deposits ~ #R1T&58 ki d 2 Tl B A (35,644) (31,204)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWBAF 2 W - 9
Loss on disposal and written off of property, HE MM E - R N RE
plant and equipment mE 18 642 1,821
Loss on fair value changes of investment CEMENTEEE EE
properties 34,867 45,566
Share-based payments B e AT R 48,750 48,000
Impairment losses under expected credit loss TEEEEBIEBERIE MR ATE
model on debt instruments at fair value SAHMESEZERIAEY
through other comprehensive income BB E 270 186,501
Operating cash flows before movements in BEESHPRI LERERE
working capital 2,253,620 4,986,206
Increase in inventories FEEM (217,768) (448,787)
Decrease in trade and other receivables and & 5 N o FE AR 3 K TR AN FRIE R A
prepayments 120,968 2,423,899
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables e (18 H0) s> (163,965) 1,450,092
Decrease in properties held for development FERREMERD 62,036 1,208,842
(Increase) decrease in equity instruments at fair BATEFABR = TAGEM)
value through profit or loss > (511,185) 440,521
(Increase) decrease in debt instruments at fair BAFEGFAEMEZERZEZ
value through other comprehensive income BT AGEM D (1,372) 2,283
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from fellow B E S NG E = RN ENil
subsidiaries 16,509 (4,681)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 N E A e BR R (226,065) (22,050)
Decrease in bills payables EREERD (62,352) (92,018)
Decrease in contract liabilities aRBERY (21,837) (2,618,016)
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to FERHR MY A Tk IE (R4 )18 hn
fellow subsidiaries (135) 80,279
Cash generated from operations REEBMERS 1,248,454 7,406,570
Other income tax paid EAEMATSE (13,604) (26,317)
PRC withholding tax paid B ETENR (114,361) (230,012)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid B B L B (Ew ([ LB ED ) (75,304) (4r7,611)
PRC Enterprise Tax (“EIT”) paid BRI EMEH ([ EMEE]) (218,041) (672,903)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EEEBFED (3,423) (7,621)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BETHMBESTE 823,721 5,992,106
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BEEEEBREREBER QT
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEEERER
2023 2022
—EC-=5 B
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BE RRESHIE
plant and equipment 61,760 46,212
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of HERAFEFAEMEEREZ
debt instruments at fair value through other EE T A (SR ER) prEaIE
comprehensive income 42,631 -
Interest received BHFIE 35,644 31,204
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments at ~ HERAFEFABRZERZT A
fair value through profit or loss FrSR0R 34,437 111,685
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BEMRE (494,938) (1,491,007)
Purchase of equity instruments at fair value BERATESABE EETA
through profit or loss (209,192) (879,181)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEYXE  BEEEBENE S
plant and equipment (105,844) (616,325)
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value BERATEFAEMEZEREZ
through other comprehensive income BERTA (78,000) (30,560)
Payments for right-of-use assets A EERNR (25,823) (44,329
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  H &% E Y ZEFTSRIE - 42,155
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HeE—HMMBARRESRAFE - 5
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEBHFFARLSFE (739,325) (2,330,141)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED
New bank borrowings raised ﬁi‘fifﬂﬁ“ 1,657,054 3,500,000
Dividends paid on ordinary shares ERNEBERRERE (1,092,000) (4,680,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIRTEE (1,600,000) (1,814,902)
Interest paid 2ARFLE (285,229) (146,198)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEEE (559) (561)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B SRR R 2 IR = (1,553)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES RB&EEEFfFARETE (1,320,734) (3,143,214)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH REeERESEEYORD)EINFEEE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,236,338) 518,751
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHIZEESRRLEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,289,953 2,864,889
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EREEHTE
CHANGES (26,436) (98,687)
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEAEGRBSEEYHEE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 2,027,179 3,289,953
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZE -=4+_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Limited,
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), its
ultimate holding company is Kingboard Holdings Limited (“KHL”), an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares also listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Renminbi (‘RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. Because the
Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, where most
of its investors are located in Hong Kong, therefore the Directors
considered it is more relevant convenient for the users of the
consolidated financial statements to present the consolidated financial
statement in HK$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
“Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes International Tax Reform - Pillar Two model Rules”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 12 is amended to add the exception to recognising and
disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities that are
related to tax law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar Two legislation”). The
amendments require that entities apply the amendments immediately
upon issuance and retrospectively. The amendments also require that
entities to disclose separately its current tax expense/income related
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods which the Pillar Two legislation
is in effect, and the qualitative and quantitative information about its
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the Pillar Two
legislation is enacted or substantially enacted but not yet in effect in
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception during the current
year because the Group’s entities are operating in jurisdictions which
the Pillar Two legislation has not yet been enacted or substantially
enacted. The Group will disclose known or reasonably estimable
information that helps users of financial statements to understand the
Group’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in the Group’s annual
consolidated financial statements when the Pillar Two legislation is
enacted or substantially enacted and will disclose separately current
tax expense/income related to Pillar Two income taxes when it is in
effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture!

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or
non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify
that only covenants with which an entity is required to comply with
on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with only
after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity
classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue
of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023,
including bank borrowings, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Except as described above, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not affect the classification of the Group’s other
liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial positions and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Rental income from property investment will be accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas dividend income
and interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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EHEERERBRLF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #&E
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REXETBERER @
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 EXRSTHBERERM®SE)

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLEEY

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated SEMBINARANEYNRE &

statement of financial position include: REFEEYRIE

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand (@) Be  BREFER2K
deposits; and EEER G R

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (b) REeFEY  BEMRE
(generally with original maturity of three months REmAD NEERS
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily BEEEZHEBRLZ
convertible to a known amount of cash and which EHI (R B HARE R — AR
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in BB=EA) S REN R
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of A -BReZEEWI AR
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for RRBHReREMIER
investment or other purposes. B EM B MmFE -

Inventories 78

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FEEKAS I FIRFERER

value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted ZEIRE AR o TFE R AT INE

average method. Net realisable value represents the TRt E - IR ERTE

estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs R E BRI TS 2280

of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs BN DA K S E TSR Z BN © {2

necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly HEMBNRABRIEHEEEE

attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the (HEIE EMAM AL AEITHE

Group must incur to make the sale. EMPBREERNIEESKA

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose (other than property, plant and
equipment under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management, including
costs of testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings, with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than artwork and property, plant and equipment under
construction) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease agreement. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. When a fair value gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised
in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation
reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to construction of
property, plant and equipment, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sales, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in
the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected to
be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in share-based payments reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments at FVTPL which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue. Interest income from bank balances and deposits
are included in other income, gains and losses.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at

FVTPL.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i)

(i)

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as
a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these debt instruments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of
these debt instruments. When these debt instruments
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in “Loss on fair value changes of equity
instruments at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables and cash and
cash equivalents) and financial guarantee contracts which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on those assets are assessed
individually and/or collectively with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

B RS AR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition for
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

O

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REASTBERER®
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 EXRSTHBERERM®SE)
Financial instruments (continued) EWMTAE)
Financial assets (continued) DRI EE)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:
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(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the @) BT ARERA
borrower; BEBEBAMBRE
#
(o) a breach of contract, such as a default or past (b) BRAEK  WE
due event; K@ EAE M
(© the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (© fERAZBERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s HEERANETH
financial difficulty, having granted to the A A AR
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) MBI AR
would not otherwise consider; i BRCR AT A
BATAIEER
Bz E=
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower (d) BB ARA8E
will enter bankruptcy or other financial EsETEMME
reorganisation; or = )
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that (e) R BN E - 7%
financial asset because of financial difficulties. SRMEEEER
EREM IS AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group has
applied a practical expedient for the provision matrix
in estimating ECL for its financial instruments. The
provision matrix simplifies the calculation process by
utilizing predetermined probabilities of default and
loss given default assigned to different credit risk
categories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments. Such
amount represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss
allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(vi)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at
the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other
income, gains and losses’ line item (Note 7) as
part of the foreign exchange gains/(losses);

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
classified as at FVTPL, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the fair value change is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bills payables, dividends payable, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries and bank borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher
of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the ‘Other income, gains and losses’ line item
in profit or loss (Note 7) as part of net foreign exchange gains/
(losses) for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship. For those which are designated as
a hedging instrument for a hedge of foreign currency risk,
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign
currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated
at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial
liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange
component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is
recognised in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by updating the
effective interest rate, such change in effective interest rate
normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of
the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2023, and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC with carrying
amounts of HK$228,601,000 (2022: HK$230,262,000) are held under
a business model which objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined the
presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment properties
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in respect of changes in
fair value of such investment properties but has recognised deferred
tax on EIT on the assumption that these investment properties will be
recovered through use.

As at 31 December 2023, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$378,690,000 (2022: HK$412,290,000) and HK$659,022,000
(2022: HK$625,873,000) respectively are not held under a business
model with the objective of which is to recover the economic benefits
of the investment properties entirely through use. No deferred tax is
recognised in respect of the fair value changes in such investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The Group is subject
to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in the
United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment properties located in the United
Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Allowance for inventories (Note 21)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the fluctuations in price, the balance on hand
relative to sales prospect and the condition of the inventories and
estimate the net realisable value of inventories based on estimated
selling prices and market condition to the extent that such condition
exists at the end of reporting period, less the estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where the net
realisable value is less than the carrying amount, impairment loss
will arise. Reversal of write-down of HK$121,267,000 on inventories
has been recognised in the profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Write-down of HK$454,513,000). As
at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$2,734,446,000 (2022: HK$2,429,643,000).

ECL for trade receivables (Notes 22 and 32)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the remaining trade receivables are assessed collectively
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
Group’s internal credit ratings. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 32
and 22 respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$3,101,157,000 (2022: HK$3,140,288,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$464,189,000 (2022: HK$574,985,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair

value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuer to perform the valuation of the Group’s
investment properties. At the end of each reporting period, the
valuation committee of the Group work closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value
measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs
where inputs can be observable, other than quoted prices in the
active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will
adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where there
is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the
fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the price
per square meter in reference with recent transactions will affect the
fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information about
the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value
of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note 14. As at
31 December 2023, the carrying amount of investment properties

was HK$1,266,313,000 (2022: HK$1,268,425,000).

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

5. REVENUE 5. X

Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FRNEEBNOTAT -

2023 2022
—EB-=fF B
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Revenue recognised at a point in time RE RN EEEE

Sales of glass epoxy laminates (Note a) HEIRE BB INEmIR
(MizEa) 10,210,574 12,443,665
Sales of paper laminates (Note a) HERERER(MiFEa) 1,373,613 1,544,064
Sales of upstream materials (Note a) HE ER(Hsta) 3,643,628 4,035,387
Sales of properties HEME 113,592 3,064,620
Sales of specialty resin (Note a) SHES R IER AR (P 3Ea) 1,030,273 891,967
Others At 189,719 219,245
Revenue recognised over time (Note b) BERF R IERR A & R (M 5Th) 55,143 44,255
Revenue from contracts with customers BPaME 16,616,542 22,243,203
Rental income (Note 34) WA (FF5E34) 58,081 61,535
Interest income from debt instruments EET AR EUWA 4,342 8,433
Dividend income RISV ON 71,283 50,509
16,750,248 22,363,680

Notes: BisE -

(@) Sales of laminates, its upstream materials include sales of copper foil, (a) HEERER - LR (BEEER
epoxy resin, glass fabric and bleached kraft paper, and sales of specialty SE - IRESE - WIBAERIER RS
resin. The payment terms are ranged from 0 day to 120 days. ) AMSHESESRE o NRERA

0Z120K °
(b) Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel (b) BEREERNEEERBEEERK

accommodation of HK$55,143,000 (2022: HK$44,255,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

5. REVENUE (continued)

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates,
paper laminates, upstream materials and specialty resin is recognised
at a point in time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS
15, revenue from these sales is recognised when the goods have
been delivered, which is the point of time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of these products and obtain substantially all

of the remaining benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised over time, as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Revenue from rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease agreement,

which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers

Apart for sales of properties, all contracts have an original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not

disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and the expected timing of

recognising revenue are as follows:

Within one year —F A

EEEEMERERQF

%@E%ﬁﬁ)

AEEBHERAKBEAEFRER -
AMEIEIR  _ERFR R R e AT E
EREERINE - REMER - RE
BN BHE LR E 15X IEHIRES
% REHERRDNER XN E YR
BR - ANEREFPERENITEXSEMD
ERARERZFEMBAMO T Mt
B B o

REBRAEEHBIETHEMEES
MERBRBPESABMENEHIE
Z TRV T IARERR o

TR R EMSRIRR - BAES
B 4 L 400 L 5 M ER Y R e A 4
TR 0PRSS HOFI35 -

KEREHENHES R ARERERHA
AHE R FHARR - HREAKE
M EBEFIBIE -

TERERTEFENBENEEN
ReE®%

BRIHEMEIN - AR NREBERFHS
B—FRIAT - HOEBWBRELER
FISHAAAET » DEERFRTHELN
MR ZERTTRE

RZEZ=ZFR-_FT-__F+=A
=t+—HB HENESREHRTBOE
ECRER I D RIER )X SHEE K
TEHARER S SEER T

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
18,138 52,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

7 > AN
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. ZDEER
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (‘HKFRS 8”) requires operating BB BEMEERFEHR[ L& » F0
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about ([BEAMERELEREST |) BRI E
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief EEEARE([TESEREEAEY
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to DEVEE RO B MEHEERIR FATEHES
segments and to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s EHNERER TR 2 AETREE
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into three main BRETEENIHE - AEmME - B
operating divisions - (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates; (ii) EAPIEHRELERESHET » AEE Y
properties; and (jii) investments. BTERPErR-(EAEELEHEH—
(Vs HERRER * ()% © Rii)
& o
The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under NEB RIS BB RS ER|E 85 FF
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated EDHEMZ GETECR - HEAREE
financial statements. Segment results represents the profit earned BB E R 2 EZ M ERE —3 -
or loss incurred by each segment with certain items not included DEEEREGBRAETER (RO ER
(unallocated corporate income and expenses, share-based payments ARAY - BOFEASREBERAR)
and finance costs). This is the measure reported to the CODM for the G o & 93 5B AT BREX B35 ) 3k 31 BUAY IS
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment. B ERMELTBLERRERANE
TR PR ANE B EH S S -
(@ Segment revenue and results (a) oHEEBEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results BIELL KRRy EEln 2 K
by operating and reportable segments: EEEEREEOTOT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—ZB=-=%+=-A=+—H
LHEE
Laminates Properties  Investments Consolidated
B IES RE oy
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET TET TER TEx
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
GED)) (B aEb) (HizEe)
Segment revenue DEBEFERE 16,447,807 226,816 75,625 16,750,248
Segment results 7 EBRAR 1,516,358 42,336 4,182 1,562,876
Unallocated corporate income Kolicz AaUA 47,157
Unallocated corporate expenses RO 2 AFIZH (94,663)
Share-based payments R e A 3R (48,750)
Finance costs & Rk A (273,694)
Profit before taxation BBt A A 1,192,926
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued)

(@) Segment revenue and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

6.

EHEERERBRLF

DEREE @)

(@ ABREREEE
BE-®-_—f+-A=+-A8

ILFE

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
EiRER LUES K& o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAL TAT

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)

GES) (Fitztb) (BiEe)
Segment revenue Pan= - 19,134,328 3,170,410 58,942 22,363,680
Segment results DEPELE 2,266,378 1,560,948 (201,122) 3,626,204
Unallocated corporate income Koz AaA 44,460
Unallocated corporate expenses A ECZ A RIS H (134,5006)
Share-based payments R e A 3R (48,000
Finance costs BhE AR (130,392)
Profit before taxation B 758 B ) 3,357,766

Notes: s -

(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (a) SIS E IR IR
sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream BHMER - KBRER « L
materials, the sales of specialty resin and others into “Laminates” TR N ESTEEE R E
segment. A G AT BIRER D E

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (0) TIMEBBYREE HEK
sales of properties, rental income and revenue from hotel ARBEEBWAEENL
accommodation into “Properties” segment because the financial HEAME[YE | H I -
performance of these businesses are affected by changes in the CEAE S ol ot
property market. RETSE L TE -

(@] The management aggregated the revenue derived from the EREBEBEK T AN S WA

interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from
equity instruments into “Investments” segment.

REmTARSBALRE
BHATEE |88 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by operating and reportable segments:

At 31 December 2023

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

- Deferred tax assets

- Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
- Deferred tax liabilities
- Taxation payable
- Dividends payable

Consolidated total liabilities

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

gE

DEEE

RO EE
—RERAEE
—RERREEEY

mABERE

a8fE

DEaE
Aol BlE
—RITIEE
—RERAEE
—REA

— BRI

mABRERE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Laminates

BHER
HK$’000
THET

17,359,231

(2,926,340)

DEER )

(b) SHEERER

INT ARG E N EBRDEE D2
REFEERBBZON

R-B-=%+=-A=+—H

Properties
LS
HK$°000
TR

2,038,611

(203,947)

Investments Consolidated

RE
HK$’000
THET

2,134,256

VN
=}
HK$’000
TEx
21,532,098

3,607

2,027,179

23,562,884

(3,130,287)

(4,451,394)
(298,953)
(5619,813)

(187,200)

(8,587,647)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

At 31 December 2022

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
- Deferred tax assets
- Taxation recoverable
- Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
- Deferred tax liabilities
- Taxation payable
- Dividends payable

Consolidated total liabilities

A%
HEAE
KR AR

—RERAEE
— AL IR IR
-Re kAL

a8fE
DEaE
Aol BlE
—RITEE

—RERAAE

— B
— e AR

EHEY

6.

Laminates
BHER
HK$'000

FET

17,307,540

(2,885,797)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than deferred tax assets and cash and cash

equivalents; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation
payable and dividends payable.

25

HEEREZERAERLD T

DEER )

b) HWBEEREB/H
R-E-_—_F+=-HA=+—H

Properties
S
HK$'000
FET

2,185,017

(556,537)

g}—

Investments  Consolidated

®E e
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THEL

1,626,070 20,988,627
3,113

18,119
3,289,953

24,299,812

- (3442,334)
(4,400,000
(318,962

)

)

(598,525)
(468,000)

(9,227,821)

R ERIA KR B D B

ﬁﬁ-

@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ
MRS FEYI
BEEH DR %%%n
7B K

BRIRITIEE - IREH A
BIE - ERBALEN
BN - FTBERESD
[ S G

B FFR



@ KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 6. DEER
()  Other information () HuEH
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-=%+=-A=+—H
LtEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment results or HAD LS D ILEESEN
segment assets. 4% o
Laminates Properties  Investments Consolidated
B IES RE &E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
TET TEx TER TEx
Capital additions BT 1,184,371 932 - 1,185,303
Depreciation of property, Y - WEREEITE
plant and equipment (874,426) (11,646) - (886,072)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {FFEEETE (10,914) (3,120) - (14,034)
Loss on fair value changes of BAFERAEBRZ
equity instruments at FVTPL BRI AZNFE
SE)EE - - (69,854) (69,854)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments H &R A FEzH A E A
at FVTOC! FHEHWE 2 BEBLA
25 - - 12,071 12,071
Loss on fair value changes of WEMEZ N FEES
investment properties &8 - (34,867) - (34,867)
Loss on disposal and written off of 5 R E X - KR
property, plant and equipment KEEEE (642) - - (642)
Reversal of write-down of inventories fja B [0l 17 & 121,267 - - 121,267
Net impairment reversed recognised #t2 5 e R IETER 2
on trade receivables B ERE TR 98,468 39 = 98,507
Impairment losses under expected  FEHAE EESIBIEXIE T
credit loss model on debt EAFERT AR
instruments at FVTOCI w2 EBIAZRE
fE518 = = (270) (270)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

(c)

Other information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets.

Capital additions
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Loss on fair value changes of
equity instruments at FVTPL

Loss on fair value changes of
investment properties

Loss on disposal and written off of
property, plant and equipment

Write-down of inventories

Net impairment reversed (loss)
recognised on trade receivables

Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model on debt
instruments at FVTOCI

BARIER

M - BB LRI
E

EREEENE

BAHEF ARR 2
2T ARNTEESE
il

BREMELNTEEZH
BB

HE RIEE T -

i EE

MoRFE

5 E P EWR R
ERENRE (R ) F
#

BEREEEEREART
BAHEF AR MR
s EFETAEZ
HEEE

il

Laminates
BHER
HK$'000

FET

2,418,046

(769,479)
(12,218)

(1,821)
(454,513)

28,789

EEEEMERERQF

DEREE @)

(c) HtER )

BE-—®2--f+-A=+-H

LHEE
FFADEEESS
BHEE o
Properties Investments
S ®E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
933 -
(12,012 -
(3,149) -
- (24,780)
(45,566) -
(11) -
- (186,501)

AR BH

Consolidated
i)
HK$'000
FET
2,418,979
(781,491)
(15,367)
(24,780)
(45,566)
(1,821)

(454,513)

28,778

(186,501)

The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of

domicile).

REBETEERBUNTE(AE

B2 PrfEds) o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEMBmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6. ZEER=
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HiERE)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from NTRAEEREZEXALY
external customers by geographical location of the customers 2 o B 2 U AR BRIk
or tenants or in the case of dividend income and interest ABBREER AR HIEE TN
income, the principal place of business of the investee or TE AN B i BRSNS R S A e
debtor. M o
2023 2022
—E-=5F - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
The PRC (country of domicile) R (AREE 2 FriEsh) 15,410,846 20,804,359
Other foreign countries: HAMEK
Other Asian countries H MBI 1,073,565 1,266,750
Europe B 138,363 135,644
America M 127,474 156,927
16,750,248 22,363,680
Revenue from one of the Group’s customers, being REAEEHF -—REP (A
KHL’s subsidiaries in fellow subsidiaries of the Group, in EEERAEERENE A
laminates segment amounted to HK$3,488,683,000 (2022: ZHB AR BINEIR D BAE
HK$4,096,187,000), which individually accounted for over % %653,488,683,0008 (=&
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year. Detail is disclosed in Z 4 : 4,096,187,000/87C)
Note 39. EAREERFENEERER
10% ° FFBERMIFE394KEE -
The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, MIBEERIEEE - AT ERTA
other than deferred tax assets, equity instruments at FVTPL BamoEmn T AREAFERA
and debt instruments at FVTOCI by location of assets is Hiv2mEWm 2 EF LA - K
presented as follows: SEIERSEEREEMI DN
5T
2023 2022
—EZZ=F ke~ =
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FET
The PRC (country of domicile) AR (NS 2 FrfEst) 7,764,750 8,250,725
Hong Kong B 403,752 428,557
United Kingdom HE 659,022 625,872
Thailand EE 462,032 320,305
9,289,556 9,625,459
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@ EEEERERBRAF
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HA - WEREBE

2023 2022
—EC=5F T4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz R EEeE
Government grants (Note) B RERL () 47,309 56,612
Interest income on bank balances and deposits 847458 R 17282 FIl U A 35,644 31,204
Loss on disposal and written off of property, HE R TE - BB R
plant and equipment Bl -t (642) (1,821)
Others Hith 18,109 26,936
Total A=t 100,420 112,931
Note:  Government grants are related to unemployment insurance premium MEE © BUHERL AR B T B AT ERPI S

refunds, import of high technology products, development support and
support for stabilising employment received by the Group from PRC
government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to

MARERRERE - SHRMEREA
XE - BRXERRBEREXE - R
EZE AR I R E R - -

these grants.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMA

2023 2022

—EC=HF —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T FHIT

Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEF B 285,159 146,117

Interest on lease liabilities HEHEMNBE 70 81

Less: Amounts capitalised in the construction & : R TRHENMLEEE

in progress (11,535) (15,806)

273,694 130,392




@ KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHRME
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIBHBX
2023 2022
—EC-=5 T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHT
The amount comprises: HIBEIE
PRC EIT BTSSR 162,437 427,922
PRC LAT MR IR (E RS 14,646 528,034
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEREH 3,423 7,389
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions Efth RLAREIR 2 1118 9,918 13,309
Withholding tax in the PRC AR TEIE R 114,361 230,012
304,785 1,206,666
Deferred taxation IEETTE
— (Credit) charge for the year (Note 19) — NG FE (R H (BisE19) (20,503) 241,716
284,282 1,448,382
Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation BRI BESEMERE([EMRER
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% ED KB PR EFE R B
for both years. REZEFRSHBER25% -
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% to 10% is BBECEMBRE BT N\F—A
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by — B - gt BRI A TR R R P RRER
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards. /9 A1 B BT 2 R A9 AR B 5% = 10% /Y
TRIRH o
Pursuant to the EIT Law of the PRC, a High-New Technology RIERBECEETE - efRiihsE
Enterprise shall be entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three EEEEARAUBEZEAH=F0
years since it was officially endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC 15%THEER - ETHEMBAREES
obtained official endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise FRERBFEMEE(HBEEER]D)
(“Tax Concession”) and with the expiry dates on or before 2025 (2022: AR T RAFH (=T
2024). F:ZTZMEF) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The Group has applied the temporary exception issued by the
HKICPA in July 2023 from the accounting requirements for deferred
taxes in HKAS 12. Accordingly, the Group neither recognises nor
discloses information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related
to Pillar Two income taxes.

The Group is continuing to assess the impact of the Pillar Two income
taxes legislation on its future financial performance.

EEEEMERERQF

FrEBiR <

FHEL IR ER B E R B ERA
MR BRMEE - B ESR(R
BEYEHERANEBEERKA) A
REBIEI0% 2= 60%FEEH A + HIRE
B o HEERKATE BT HAKA - %
REEERA - REMAREEZERN
A o $ETE BN RE A LA
BRNEERA  REMEREESR
RHRA - BEARRBERRZET A
5 HEMEREEHIIEER - 3
FEZERTRES HRPTERE -

REF SRR B EREBHE
AEREEERNE 8BS
#8.25% I - MiBB =8 & & TAIF
HRIZEIZ16.5%EF o TFFE FIEBMR
BHEBEEEMNFE G EEIL16.5%
MEEHEED - Al - 6 EKEE
ERE B &S b ERB SRS
RB25% MM EHMMBEFEH - M
ZEEETTU L2 EETERBR R A%
16.5%H)Ft R EHL ©

it AERE 2 BE R B AR
2 ERBIRE -

AEECERBEESEAMAGR _F
=L ARMOABEESELE
1257 IR FE B T & 5 4R E B0 bR B Bl SME
e B - ARSI SRR B S AT T R
SRAMNEERAEERAE T4
REAMER -

REEEETEE—RETENY
HERRMERANTE -

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (ontinueq) 9.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Fri8BiBa X )

REZZFBHAX EGE BaRRHT
AN 2 SRR T

2023 2022
—E-=5 B
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Profit before taxation B A ) 1,192,926 3,357,766
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of  LABI A EFTERH R25% (=&
25% (2022: 25%) (Note) I 25%)FTHE 2 HIERX
(FsE) 298,232 839,442
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TN EBER ST 2
tax purpose 13,364 76,223
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTIM S 2 s &
tax purpose (30,257) (24,112)
PRC LAT ARt IR (R 14,646 528,034
Tax effect of PRC LAT AP IR E T 2 B A R 2 (3,662) (132,009)
Tax effect of Tax Concession BGEEIHEE (114,217) (401,060)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R ERHIEEE 2 HBETE 53,715 34,663
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised®) Fl LA & 852 ~ BiTE 518 (2,024) (31,617)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income  F1EIF{/B A TR ZE AR S U A E
from PRC subsidiaries RITRIRH 2 o2& 114,361 230,012
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed profits 783075 %} = BT B 2 &1 e (L
attributable to the PRC subsidiaries R ) ) 57 28 (46,629) 363,628
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREIA SRS - READ
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other RAIEMERE, M EGE B AR
than the domestic income tax rate ZEBE 2 (13,205) (34,672)
Effect of tax reduction B2 (42) (150)
Income tax expense for the year RNEE 2 PSR 284,282 1,448,382

Note: ~ The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) represents the PRC EIT
rate of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHwRRMEE
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. REERF
2023 2022
—EC-=5 B
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at REZ @M E LR GEA)
after charging (crediting): LATIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN S 2,945 3,750
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEZRA 14,107,680 15,581,379
Cost of properties sold BEEWHE KK 64,376 1,214,628
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - R & B 2 1T E 886,072 781,491
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 14,034 15,367
Less: capitalised in inventories B B EFE (823,412) (686,749)
76,694 110,109
Direct operating expenses in relation to IS EYERENEE L ERX
investment properties (included in cost of (GTASHERA)
sales) 22,336 23,718
Net exchange loss Ve B 1R 5 8,907 22,228
Net impairment reversed recognised on trade  gtE S FEUBE R HER 2 DO
receivables BE SRR (98,507) (28,778)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss ~ FEHE EEIERIIE M2 A T E
model on debt instruments at FVTOCI FPAHMAEEY S EBIA
2 REEE 270 186,501
Total staff costs, including Directors’ BETINAERE  BREESHE
emoluments 1,169,429 1,223,898
(Reversal of write-down of) write-down of (UR R #Us T E
inventories, included in cost of sales T ASEERAR (121,267) 454513

B FFR



@ KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHwRRMEE
11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. E - THEIZRES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [ ke
(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments () ESRTHAZME
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: BRENZBME0T
2023 2022
—Eo=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FAET
Fees e 1,236 1,236
Other emoluments: Hibfe :
Salaries and other benefits e REAER 15,961 15,948
Contributions to retirement benefits EAREFIFEIHEK
scheme 796 802
Performance related incentive payment TYERIR AR SEE FE
(Note i) (3% 65,629 77,879
Share-based payments B R AR 39,378 37,724
123,000 133,589
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUBHERME

N

n

cHFEUWEE[EY
YHASHEETIWEE
DW#TEYEBLHEL
T o MEWAN S E
HESYNEIYHISEY

LETTWERLEIWT
o [

EWEFHNFERLHE - 2
HHEG LS bW
EVE - BEEWIEEE

'SJ0}00.I(] SE SBOIAISS I8} JO} AJUIBL 810M

9AOCE UMOUS SIUSWN|OWS ,SI0}08JIp SAIINO8Xa-UoU Juspuadapul pue I0}0allp SAIINO9XS
-UoN "dnoJg syl pue Auedwo) 8y} JO Siieye syl Jo uswebeuew 8yl Yyim uoi0suu0d
(1) Ul SBOIAIBS I8y} JO) AJUlew 8J9M SA00E UMOYS SIUSWNIOWS ,SI0}08JIPp SAIIN08Xd 8y | (1)

'$10308JI U} 0} pied S| puly Ul syjeusq Jeyio

ON 'SJeaA y10q Buunp sonsiels 1exiew ajgesedwlod pue aouewopad [enpliaipul ‘synseld

WEeUEEEREET 0 Buneiedo ay) 0] 8oUalell YlIM pauILISIep SI JuswAed sAnuUSOUl palejal eouewlIopad ey 0]
H 'SeI0N
ee'tel 00t et ol 00 eee  pie9 el 8% el 609 eeree YT SiaLNOS Blo]
el'le 099 099 099 099 - 108"} £09'7 08'L G08'L G08'. 08', B ey SjuswiAed peseq-e/eys
682, 0L &Ll 06 0l 9097 078 099 9zt ewSh 66T 9w () (1810N) 1weuked
B ML T BA]UBOUI PaJEfR) B0UBLLIOJa]
08 - - - - 9 5 0 %! ot 67l o) RS SHRLRq
S LB JUsWaIed 0} SLONNQULOY)
ges - - - - 117 Bt 08t BT weT W8T ale WEP Ty SJyBuBc]J8LJ0 PUE SBIES
e SIUBLNOWS JaY)0
%'l 0ve 9.¢ 08y 0ve - - - - - - - T S804

Tt YgE 12
000SYH  000SYH 0008
£ SEl  ¥8%

T Ty 1§ UgE 13y
000$MH  0008YH  Q00$YH  OOOSMH 000
#x gl SEE fwE 22%

Yt Ayt 1 UgE
000SMH  0008YH  000SYH  D0OSMH
Bgy  tEE  REE EER

[e101 Buipy n4m usydaig Jold Buoaey  Bua4led OH By ] Buid yomy  Buney BJ\\ YoMy
Yomy| Bueyz ‘Uemynug  ‘Buny 07 noyz Bunaty wel Bunayy Yomy Bunay)
OH d Bunayn
£EUIHNE = £E2UK
$I0J0IIP SNNBX8-UOU JUapUadapu| 10081p SI0}004 BAJNOBXT
BAIN0RYE
-UoN

Y4TH—+=H- 4" -8
020¢ laquisdeq | ¢ PpuUs Jes A

(BTHgsalNER @

@iﬁ:@
EYNEHWL  EX L

(penuiuod) sUBWINIOWA S,8A1MN09XT JaIy) pue sioyoallq  (B)

Penined) g 1 NFINNTONWS . STIA0TdING
ANV S3AILNDAX3 43IHD .SHOLO3HIA LI

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



o

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 39, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, the executive directors, are interested in these
transactions to the extent that they have indirect beneficial
interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping
and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate holding
company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

12. DIVIDENDS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

12. K2

2023 2022
—EC=5F T4
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FHET BT
Dividends declared and/or paid BEEREHEIRMARE
2023 Interim dividend of HK6.0 cents ZE - =FREHARE6.0BILER
(2022: HK15.0 cents) per ordinary share LTER(ZTZZF  15.0/81U) 187,200 468,000
2022 Final dividend of HK20.0 cents —E - CFRAAKRBER
(2021: HK120.0 cents) per ordinary share A% 20.07811L
(ZEZ—%F : 120.0/81L) 624,000 3,744,000
811,200 4,212,000
Dividends proposed BEERE
Proposed 2023 Final dividend of EE T O FRERS
HK10.0 cents (2022: HK20.0 cents) per B EEN10.081
ordinary share (ZT= =% : 20.08(l) 312,000 624,000
The final dividend of HK10.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to EEEEMNEE S -_=F91+=A4

HK$312,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: final dividend of HK20.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to
HK$624,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022)
have been proposed by the Directors and are subject to the approval
by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purpose of calculating
basic and diluted earnings per share
(2022: basic and diluted earnings per share) &7)

EHEERERBRLF

13. BREF

ARABEAANBIEERER R EERT
BT BIETE

STESREAREERN AT
(ZZT==F : gREARREE

2023 2022
—E-=4F T4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET BT
907,402 1,909,169

Number of shares

BRHOEE

2023 2022

—E-=HF T —F

’000 000

TR Fix
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R EZANEF| 7 L@ AR IR T E

for the purpose of basic earnings per share 3,120,000 3,120,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares B LB B BB EN

arising from share options (Note) FEz Eimik s se 2 (MisE) = -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &A% 58 2 | 7 @ AR ANAE 15 81

for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 3,120,000 3,120,000

Note:  The Company’s share options can potentially dilute basic earnings per
share in the future, but are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share because they are antidilutive for the years presented.

A BT A B R A AR
EARF  BRNEERZFEAS
RHSAAER - AU TR SRR
FltEtE S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

14.

B RS AR M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BREYHE

HK$’000
FHET

FAIR VALUE NEE
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_%—AF—H 1,441,259
Disposals e (42,155)
Loss on fair value changes N EZEEE (45,566)
Exchange adjustments PE H (85,113)
At 31 December 2022 WZE-_—_F+-_HA=+—H 1,268,425
Loss on fair value changes NEZEEE (34,867)
Exchange adjustments ME 5 AR 32,755
At 31 December 2023 N-E-_=%+-H=+—H 1,266,313

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of
1to 7 years (2022: 1 to 7 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangement, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the
management determines the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

The Group engages an independent qualified valuer to perform its
valuations. The management works closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The persons in charge of financial matters report
the management findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2023 and 2022 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
qualified valuer not connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The valuation was determined based on direct comparison method
by reference to the market transactions of similar properties taking in
consideration of timing of reference transaction and property-specific
adjustment factors. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in prior years.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value

of financial position hierarchy

REERGEHBMARE ATE

B2RENE RERR

Hong Kong

B

Industrial properties in Hong  Level 3
Kong

REBNTHDE F=H

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

HERNREIRGAE

Direct comparison

method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors, such
as location, road frontage,
size of property and
facilties.

BERMEFE  RETS
BRNENRS  LEE
SLEZRSHERUARD %
RENHBEER B
B RETER  MENRR
HANE -

b=

 BEREZEREBRL T

14. REWZE @)

Significant
unobservable inputs

EATTREBARRE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties, which is ranged
from HK$39,676 to HK$47,307
(2022: HK$39,493 to
HK$42,291) per square metre.

RATSEETLENENTT
FRERE N TFETFHK39,676
BILTE4TI07TBL(ZE ==
F 139,498 BT E42,201/87T)

TREHZEREDFELATFENETH
E (R ATE B E R R AZE)
LARIZ A BT 28 A SUEN A BRI
E¥AFEFESEZ A FEEBEART
(F—ZE=M) -

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

YK ERAELARERIR
BMENDYEAEAR LA
RZ TR

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value

of financial position hierarchy

AEERGARUMBMRRRE DFE

BRREN%E &5

Commercial properties  Level 3
in Hong Kong

REBNEEDE E=H

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERNREEBABE

Direct comparison
method based on
market transactions

of similar properties
taking into
consideration of

timing of reference
transactions and
property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location,

road frontage, size of
property and facilities.
BEELEHAE  RETS
BRANENRS  UEE
SLEZGNRHENRDE
RENRBRZ B
B RiEER  mERR
HER/NE o

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. REWZR »

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTUBRBAHE

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties,
which is ranged

from HK$175,269 to
HK$220,681 (2022:
HK$202,362 to
HK$220,660) per square
metre.

RATMBEZTLENENS
EHRERZ NTFEEHK
175,269  JT & 220,681 78 T
(ZEZZF 12023628 LE
220,660/7T) ©

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

SEHRBEAR LT 95
EMEH DT EAR L -
B2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq:@% &)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

AEERGEHBMAKRE ATE

B2RENE BB HERMREIEDAHE EXFTTEZGARE BRE

PRC

F

Commercial properties  Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in

in Shanghai method based on using market direct the price per square metre

market transactions comparable properties, used would result in a
of similar properties which is ranged from significant increase in the
taking into RMB27,264 to RMB29,400 fair value measurement of
consideration of (2022: RMB29,823 to the investment properties,
timing of reference RMB30,000) per square and vice versa.
transactions and metre.

property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location,
road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

R EBREEYE E=R BRLEE RETS RETSEEALBNENGT SFHRERKEABEER
ERANENRS TEE  FHARER NTFEFARARE EVENRATEFERELA
SERGHREURNE 27264t E ARE2040070(Z RZTA -

RENAREE ot T-_fF: AR®20828TEA
B REER  MERR  RH30,0007T) ©
HANE -

B FFR



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq:@% &)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

AEERGEHBMRAKE ATE

B2RENE BB HERMREIEDAHE EXFTIEZGARE BRE

Commercial properties  Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in

in Shenzhen method based on using market direct the price per square metre

market transactions comparable properties, used would result in a
of similar properties which is ranged from significant increase in the
taking into RMB12,000 to RMB15,911  fair value measurement of
consideration of (2022: RMB15,000 to the investment properties,
timing of reference RMB16,035) per square and vice versa.
transactions and metre.
property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location,
road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

Nz lllslElEEkES E=R BRNERE BRETS RATSEERLENENEGT GFHREBRKRE AHERR
ERMENX S UERE HARER NFELHRARE EVENRATEHEAE LT
2ERFOREARNE 12000 ZARK5911T(Z RZHA

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq:@% &)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

AEERGAUMBMRRRE LDFE

BRREN%E BERR HERMREIEGAYE EATITREEGARE HEE

Commercial Shops in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in

Qingyuan method based on using market direct the price per square metre

market transactions comparable properties, used would result in a
of similar properties which is ranged from significant increase in the
taking into RMB7,594 to RMB8,042 fair value measurement of
consideration of (2022: RMB9,330 to the investment properties,
timing of reference RMB11,300) per square and vice versa.
transactions and metre.

property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location,
road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

RERNE R E=8 BERELEAE  RETS KEATSERTLENENEST Y KEBKE LFEEHER
BRANENRS  UEE FAER NFETARARE BNENRATEHAEAELA
2ZRGNERARNE 7504TEARES2TL(ZE RIZMA -

REMAREZ B ——F: AR¥I3B0TEAR
B REERE  WERR %11,3007) ¢
HER/NE o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGRRUBMRRRE
BRREN%E

Commercial properties
in Kunshan

RELNERNE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Fair value
hierarchy
A FE
&5

Level 3

E=l

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERNREEBABE

Direct comparison
method based on
market transactions

of similar properties
taking into
consideration of

timing of reference
transactions and
property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location,

road frontage, size of
property and facilities.
BEELEHAE  RETS
BRANENRS  UEE
SLEZGNRHENRDE
RENRBRZ B
B RiEER  mERR
HER/NE o

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. REWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTUBRBAHE

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties,
which is ranged from
RMB7,184 to RMB7,734
(2022: RMB7,108 to
RMB7,500) per square
metre.

RATMBEETLENENTT
FRER NTEFETRARE
7184 T E ARMET 7340 (ZF
—oF ARBTI8TEAR
#7,5007T) ©

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

SEHRBEAR LT 95
EMEH DT EAR LT -
B2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

EEEEMERERQF

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. }Qﬁ#@ﬁ‘ &)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEBRGEHMBMRRERE ATE

B2RENE HERR HEEMREIERAZE EATITERRAZE HRE

United Kingdom

T

Commercial properties  Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in

in London method based on using market direct the price per square metre

market transactions comparable properties, used would result in a
of similar properties which is ranged from Great significant increase in the
taking into British Pound (“GBP”) fair value measurement of
consideration of 7,944 to GBP9,322 (2022:  the investment properties,
timing of reference GBP8,297 to GBP9,427) and vice versa.
transactions and per square metre.
property-specific
adjustments factors,
such as location,
road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

i CEIGOFSIER)ES E=H ERLEFE  RETS RETSERTLENENST SYHRESRAE LASERER

BRYWENR S LERE
2ERSHKRARDE
RHEMHERR - 2t

FORER BB K745
FEI3NEFE (T =
8,207 HEE 0 427 HEE) o

BMENATHEFERBE LI
RZ TR

B BREER MERR
HEANE -

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

FAN - AERE=FHEALEL -

REBEBRIES S E ANEELRIBL
EHAREZMBEYNEER - BNA
RNHERNFTE - XN BERINERED
¥ - REAMEZATER  MEZR
Sh&ERERBENAR -

B FFR



@ KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2L ng A_'
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  15. ¥¥ « RKERBEE
Property,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor under
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Artwork  construction Total
G 58 IR BE
By EENERE HER#E e AE Bl e at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR TEn Tén Tén Tén T Fén T
00sT AR
At January 2022 R-2-—%-f-8 2,108,980 3710 12,290,187 887,864 74,252 19,110 1,082,632 16,506,735
Exchange adjustments ERg (153,043) (2.946) (1,079,660) (99,579) 4.320) (1,221) (86,740) (1,427,509)
Additions AE - - 460,957 43949 1,382 5,144 1,862,850 2,374,282
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-EHBAA - - - 2on) - - - @on)
Disposals and wrte off HE R4 - (9,508) (135,166) (7,201) (448) - (12,981) (165,296)
Reclassflications ENE - 5,666 1579,345 233,620 1145 - (1,819,776) -
At 31 December 2022 RZE--E+-B=+-H 1,955,937 36,927 13,115,663 1,056,642 72,014 23,033 1,025,985 17,286,201
Exchange adjustments Ei g% (11,566) 624 (199,481) (22,618) (656) 986 (4,505) (237,216)
Additions AE - 204 254,365 33,361 12,137 7,659 851,301 1,159,117
Disposals and write off HERH - - (174,074) (32,83) (2,565) - 4310) (213,784)
Reclassffications Bl - - 863,476 552,117 - - (1,415,509 -
At 31 December 2023 WZB-=E+-B=t+-R 1,044,371 37,755 13,859,949 1,586,667 80,930 31,678 452,968 17,994,318
DEPRECIATION it
At 1 January 2022 R-F--F-f-A 562,497 21929 8,959,046 647,074 62,380 - - 10,268,926
Exchange adjustments Ex@E 25,104) (746) (764,296) (60,604) (3.591) - - (854,341)
Provided for the year TEERE 42,163 2,969 615,598 116,164 4597 - - 781,491
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidlary HE-EMBATRBTH - - - 389) - - - (389)
Eliminated on disposals and wiite off LERTE R - (189) (110,630) (6,054) (420) - - (117.263)
At 31 December 2022 S = p 579,556 29,993 8,699,718 696,191 62,966 - - 10,068,424
Exchange adjustments ERag (8,444) 250 (126,479) (11,183) (547) - - (141,402)
Provided for the year TEERE 37414 3,224 673,357 168,993 3,084 - - 886,072
Eliminated on disposals and write off HERTHERE - - (120,833) (28,149) (2,400) - - (151,382)
At 31 December 2023 W=8==E+-f=1-B 613,526 33,467 9,125,764 825,852 63,103 - - 10,661,712
CARRYING VALUE FHE
At 31 December 2023 W=8==F+=f=1-B 1,330,845 4,288 4,734,185 760,815 17,821 31,678 452,968 7,332,606
At 31 December 2022 S e 1,376,381 6,934 4415945 360,451 9,048 23,033 1,025,985 727777

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than artwork
and those under construction) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account of their residual values at the following rates

per annum:

Buildings Over the remaining unexpired
terms of the leases ranging
from twenty to fifty years

Leasehold improvements 10-20%

Plant and machinery 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/5%

Motor vehicles 20%

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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16.

B RS AR M

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

BEEE

16. EFAEEE

WERBRR A

Leasehold Office
land properties Total
HELH MAEYE wEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB=-=%+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRHEE 587,578 1,483 589,061
At 31 December 2022 WN_E-__F+_F=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 584,027 1,723 585,750
For the year ended BE-_Z_=5+-H=+—H
31 December 2023 IEFEE
Depreciation for the year KEEFEHFE 13,450 584 14,034
For the year ended HE—_Z—_—_F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2022 IEERE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 14,773 594 15,367
2023 2022
—EBC=HF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Expense relating to short-term leases 55 AT EARRAM B 2 1,530 372
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R BT 31,444 45,343
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERE 26,186 44,329
For both years, the Group leases various leasehold land and office MREFES  AEEREEREERE
properties for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed ZIBME 49 1t J ’“*%% 5FH #IBA
term of 1 year to 50 years (2022: 1 year to 50 years). Lease terms are FEHANF1ER250F(ZE-F 1
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different FES0F )] - MEGRIHEE R E

terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
properties. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

LR - BRERIETRGREGENS -
B"?‘XEXHHE&E”HETTT%X@HJ%FEJE’JEF

CAREEERANNERELEERN
—Hﬁ%ﬂiﬂ THYHAR]

$‘§@mﬁﬂﬁfﬂ#’“*%%ulﬁiﬁﬁﬂ
CRIBI=HER-FT__F+_H

_-I- B EEMEEMRAS E ETEE

HIRERX 2R EHEARM -

—FFR
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16.

17.

B RS AR M

RlGHT'OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$1,638,000 (2022: HK$1,853,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$1,483,000
(2022: HK$1,723,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

16.

17.

FEREEE®

FEPRFIR

o RZEZ=F+=-A=+—8

£ 5t 46 B3 A 7 & & 1,483,0007% 7T
(ZZT = — 4% : 1,723,000 7T ) RME
E 8151638008 T( T ==
1,853,000/ 7T) - HE Wk I &M 11T
224 - EEAAREHEEENER
ﬁémrﬁf\ﬁl\ c HEEETSIEEFERA

BAFEFTAERZ ZE
w=TH

2023 2022
—ZE-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL: &I A EEF AB&=t=
LEREBE
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LT 2w E S 2,037,804 1,421,718
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREREMAWA
— Current assets —mENEE 1,681,470 561,303
- Non-current assets —EREBEE 356,334 860,415
2,037,804 1,421,718

For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the
management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

At 31 December 2023, the fair values of the listed securities held
by the Group, determined by reference to the quoted market
bid prices available, amounted to HK$2,037,804,000 (2022:
HK$1,421,718,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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FARDAE - KBEATE AR
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RIS A RDEE -

RZE-_=Z%+-A=+—H &K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

EHEERERBRLF

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE . BAFEEA Jﬂzéﬁ
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE WZZ BT
INCOME
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Listed bond securities, at fair value: EHEHES - RAFE -
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers — BB EMEIT AT
in Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests BRI L™ BEE
of 7.5% (2022: 5.5% to 6.5%) per annum Tﬁiﬂwﬁ757—
and maturity date from 11 July 2025 to 11 T —4F :55ER
July 2027 (2022: from 12 November 2023 E) - IEE’\_g_ﬁ¢
to 11 July 2027) (Note) +A+—BE-Z-+
FLA+—BEE(Z
2::¢'_;_:
F+—A+=A=x
—tFtA+—H )(Bﬁl
&) 13,645 104,352
— listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and — BB LEMEITAETIR
issued by listed issuers in Hong Kong with THREESFZSHE
fixed coupon interests of 8% per annum W BEEEEFFIEA
and perpetual subordinated contingent 8% * RIKABIENE
convertible securities AIEAE A 82,807 -
96,452 104,352
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERERMONA
- Current assets —mEEE = 14,820
— Non-current assets —JEMBEE 96,452 89,532
96,452 104,352

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to the defaults of a bond
issuer in making payments of interest and principal for its indebtedness,
the Directors considered there was a significant increase in credit risk in the
debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer. The Group engaged an
independent qualified valuer to assist in the estimation of the ECL provision
on the debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer by determining
an appropriate probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default
rate of each debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments for the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, this bond issuer completed
debt restructuring scheme. After the completion of debt restructuring,
related listed bonds extended maturity date originally due from 28
November 2022-27 February 2023 to 11 July 2025-11 July 2027, and
changed the fixed coupon interest rate from 5.875% - 12.375% to cash

interest rate of 6.5% or 7.5% paid-in-kind.

ay

HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HIF
E - BRNEHFETAREREEL N
FERAS  EERAXBETARITH
RATFEFAHMEE N 2 BEETA
WEERBAEEN - HE-_T-_—F
RZZ_=F+-A=1+—RHLFE -

NEBREE A BIRGERM - BiBE
EARBERBEONRE - SEHTAMNMGT
FEHBARERAIEMRZE - HEERT%
BITABITHRAFEF A2 EK
w2 BB TR BHREEEEREE -

ﬁﬁ_g::¢+:ﬂz+*ﬁti
B ZEHFEITATKREBEEE -
PMEBBEHETRKE - A ETEHRNT
BABRRN-Z_=F+—A=+N
HE-_Z-_=ZF-_A-+tAHAEEEH
—E-RFELA+T—HEZT-LHF
+tA+—H BAFEEEHL85%E
12.375% & R E M EE.5%KEY)
SAFFIET.5% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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18.

B RS AR M

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME |

continued)

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the listed bond
securities are determined by reference to the valuation based on
quoted prices over the-counter markets at the end of each reporting
period.

The investment in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose obijective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.

An impairment loss of HK$270,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$186,501,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 32(b).

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities in which they are held:

United States Dollar (US$)

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

18.

T A J’@%E
ST

K

s
!
N
?ﬁ

o

=R
Z~\E )

TR ZFRZFT_F+ =R
=+—R ' ETEFEFHIATEZR
BHREARENSINTIERE 2 (HEE

iE °

I

t

HEMEZFNEELRAKRERENS
WA SRS R s R EERSFE
MRzaRReRnEAREEZS SR
BENEBRAAMSE - Bit - $£
MEFNRE DB RE A FEF AR
2HEE -

HE-_ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—HILF
€ BRERRERE270,0008 (=
: 186,501,000/ 7T) °

RERHEFFHIBBMIEES2(D)

BAVEFAEMAZARGEZEBH TR
a%TW%EIA SRR 2 ThREEHE LA
INEEFHE K
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
96,452 104,352
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets

EHEERERBRLF

19. EERIE

TRAER &ﬂfi#&iﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁwZE

recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior DELEHRBEELREENL SR 2 &
reporting period: -
Fair value Undistributed
change of Write-down profits of
investment  Revaluation of PRC
properties of properties inventories subsidiaries Others Total
Ramx Gl
ZAVHERS MEER WHEE ZADERR Hif @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL ThERL THEx TERL TR TR
At1 January 2022 W-Z-—%-A-H (9,577) (67,366) - - 2,810 (74,133)
Credit (charge) to consolidated statement 5 A (F15 B )& A BER
of profit or loss - 3,057 113,628 (363,628 5,227 (241,716)
At 31 December 2022 RZE--%+-f=1-H (9,577) (64,309) 113,628 (363,628) 8,037 (315,849)
Credit (charge) to consolidated statement & A (31 B ) A BHE
of profit or loss - 3,057 (30,317) 46,629 1,134 20,503
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A=+-AH (9,577) (61,252) 83,311 (316,999) 9,17 (295,346)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

VAT 8051 A B 75 R R T AR B 2 IR AE R IR

reporting purposes: FERDHT -
2023 2022
—E_=8 —E-F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets FEIER IR E B 3,607 3,113
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBBE (298,953) (318,962)
(295,346) (315,849)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$442,286,000 (2022: HK$235,520,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses will be
expired gradually in various date in the next five years to year 2028
(2022: year 2027).

PR HARIR - Ak E IR AR R
F 2 R &) BB E 18 5 #7442,286,000
BT (- E = 4 :235,520,000/7T) ©
AR AR TR T8RS R
EREHRIBEE - 2 BHIEFEER
AFANSABESEE B2 TN
F(ZE——F  ZF-+F)-

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19. ﬁﬁﬁ{.’:lﬁ‘(ﬁi
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% or 10% is BEFBECEMSHE BT N\F
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by —A—B# BT REME 2 7T EER
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Based on the BREIR 2B BHAN5%10%H)Ta
dividend distribution plan of the management, retained profits as - REBEEEBENKREDIKETE -
at 31 December 2023 amounting to HK$6,339,980,000 (2022: RZTEZ=F+ZA=+—HHRE
HK$5,403,554,000) will be distributed as dividend in the foreseeable Y %16,339,980,000/8 L ( ZFE ==
future, while the remaining retained profits has been set aside for local 5,403,554,000/8 70 ) i A 7] R G R 1E A
operation and business development. fRE DR - MR TRE T B BIEARH
EBNEBER -
20. GOODWILL 20. BHE
HK$’000
FET
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R-ZE-_—_F—A—H - ZZT-_—_F+-A8
31 December 2023 —t—ARZF==Ft+-A=+—H 238
A
21. INVENTORIES 21. &&
2023 2022
—E-=H B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Raw materials Bl 1,614,095 1,494,473
Work in progress TR 647,306 542,107
Finished goods BIRK @ 473,045 393,063
2,734,446 2,429,643

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the reversal of write-down
of inventories amounting to HK$121,267,000 (2022: write-down of
inventories amounting to HK$454,513,000) had been recognised and
included in cost of sales.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

EHEERERBRLF

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. EZRHEHMERERR
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS ENFEEERERE
RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
—Eo=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables B 5 AR 3,565,346 3,715,273
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEIERE (464,189) (574,985)
Trade receivables, net B o RUERFUFRE 3,101,157 3,140,288
Advance to suppliers TERHE FER IR 126,611 183,371
Prepaid expenses and deposits FErRAX kiES 75,704 84,999
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable AR EEER ([1EER ) 297,851 244,531
Other receivables H b fE AR R 163,682 180,552
3,765,005 3,833,741
Bills receivables FEWZER 2,638,096 2,509,628
6,403,101 6,343,369

As at 1 January 2022, the gross amount of trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$6,243,668,000 with
allowance for credit losses of HK$661,595,000.

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2022: 120 days),
depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The following
is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting

RZZE-_—F—A—H RKEEFAEY
K E 5 FE UK BR 5K 48 {8 & 6,243,668,000
BT S E BB E £661,595,0007%8
7TE o

rEBERTESIREFPZEEHERA
1208 (=ZF =4 : 1208) » BFFis
EERME - RFEHBR - EHNRE
BEERER  EIRKRERENEE

period: AHIFTE5| 2 BRE DT T -
2023 2022
—E-=8F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
0-90 days 0F90H 2,615,687 2,672,381
91-180 days 91£180H 452,670 440,570
Over 180 days 180B A £ 32,800 27,337
3,101,157 3,140,288
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22.

B RS AR M

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES

continued)

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 0-90 days (2022:
0-90 days) since invoice date at the end of the reporting period. Al
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one
year.

As at 31 December 20283, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$1,207,276,000 (2022: HK$1,025,284,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$62,341,000
(2022: HK$57,452,000) which has been past due over 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default based on good repayment
records for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and
bills receivables are set out in Note 32(b).

Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

us$

HK$ BT

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

22.

ESRHEMERERR
EARFRERERERE @

$E@#ﬁ¢%ﬁXME%¥fZ$%
HAREZEAHREI0ER(Z
F0E0H)A - NEBEWEIMNAMBE
BRI E| HAHAR T BB —4F -

= __

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H ~%H
B ZREBEFESBENRE BB
0 HR RV BRI 42 B 1,207,276,00078 7T (=
;:: :1,025,284,0007% 7t ) K fE UL
o WHAHRE P + 62,341,000/5 7T
(_7__¢ 57,452,000/ 7T ) & ¥ 47
QOHLA L - EREBEZERFPRITNE
EOEk - MBS KRG BEY - A&
B Ep S A E ERG -

B 5 I E b U BR FRUA K B U Z2 4B HO R
EFHEFFIBHEN I FE32(b) ©

B o MEMEWRR L EERERET
WMEIEﬁW%Z%%EWM% T
FHEZ FE

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
150,806 34,732
39,439 55,996
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

ERERBERR A

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SREYE

DEVELOPMENT

Movements of properties held for development are as follows:

FRERMEZEHNT

HK$’000
T
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—F—HF—H 1,460,556
Exchange adjustments bE 5 A (76,646)
Additions NG 5,786
Transfer to cost of sales ERHENRA (1,214,628)
At 31 December 2022 RZZ-__F+=-HA=+—8 175,068
Exchange adjustments M N AR (2,216)
Additions NE 2,340
Transfer to cost of sales HEIHEMA (64,376)
At 31 December 2023 HN-—E-_=F+=-HA=+—H 110,816
Analysis of leasehold lands included in properties held 5t AFEZERDENFHL LA DT T -
for development is set out below:
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-HA=+—H
Carrying amount EEE 32,756
At 31 December 2022 KRB —_F+=-—A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 34,276

There was no additional of leasehold lands for both years.

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC and are

stated at cost at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

B FE X mEESMEE 13

EREYEMNPR - AR
r—E-—F+ZA=+—
/E-Eo

—E-=F

H AR AT

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the
leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on the
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Included in the properties held for development, the construction of
properties with carrying amount of HK$110,816,000 are completed
(2022: HK$175,068,000). During the year ended 31 December
2023, properties held for development with carrying amount of
HK$64,376,000 were completed and sold to third parties (2022:
HK$1,214,628,000).

A L b B AR T B3R P AR /] REHT
EREFIREBEFE - $REREE
THARESN 2 HEHEERETE - &
FFAZE _*iﬂ_?__i-i— A

=t B E - TEREN LT
FHEITE -
EFERDES  KBEME 7%

110,816,000 B (T ==
175,068,000/ 7T ) 2 ¥ s E 5E I?&E
BT  -BE_T-_=—F+-A=1+—H
IFFE  BRME{E64,376,000/8 T (==
T T 1 1,214,628,00008 70 ) 2 H R
MEZERITETFE=F -

= FFR

==
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23.

24,

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

B SRR =t
PROPERTIES HELD FOR 23. SFERRYEw
DEVELOPMENT (continued)
In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development EERRTERVENERRDEE -
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for sale TR ERERNESEERY 58
upon completion of construction within the Group’s normal operating ZEVENBNANIRERIRHE -
cycle.
AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW 24, EEH%(EEH) EEX A
SUBSIDIARIES CIE/ Q]
2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries JEUR R B BB A R FIE
— trade nature —E5MHE 859,923 889,018
As at 1 January 2022, the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries RZZZZF—A—H - BRERNE
amounted to HK$978,831,000. AR FRIE A978,831,000/8 7T ©
The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales to AEBRIBEELRTERRMNBARZE
its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are B — KRR A1208 - BKERKE
non-interest bearing, unsecured, aged within 90 days and are not NEINFIE AR B RERR - HIRERY
past due at the end of the reporting period. AREHEAERE BEMN0A 2WAR
SR HA A TR i R B R o
2023 2022
—EC-=5F B F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ARIEEGIEPNGIE e
— trade nature —E 548 46,767 47,587

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less
than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.
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25.

B RS AR M

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank
deposits held by the Group. At 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank
balances carry interest at the prevailing market interest rates which
range from 0.1% to 5.5% (2022: 0.1% to 4.35%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash that
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls in the
PRC amounted to HK$1,273,186,000 (2022: HK$1,748,513,000).

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

USs$ ET
HK$ BT
GBP ESs

25.

EHEERERBRLF

RERBREEEY

ReRkBESSEMREAEEFHEZE
S RERITER - RZEZ=F+=
B=+—R0 REERITEHRIIBITT
BEMENFOIEESSE(ZE
F:01EE435F )58 -

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H &EH
A B R BB S P B IMNEE HIFT
PR RTTA % IR £ A1,273,186,000
BIL(ZF = — 4 : 1,748,513,000/8
JL) °

RekBReSENERETIINERER
BRI 2 ThRE B AINE M SHE 2 R

2023 2022
—EC=5F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAxT
293,522 810,218
67,494 43,374
10,395 10,085

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26. EZREMENEARAK
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT EREERSHNERE
LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables and bills payables EZRHMEMNRRRENRE

2023 2022
—EB-=fF B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Trade payables = ANE TN 792,963 964,300
Accrued expenses JEIRE A 468,353 496,766
Payables for acquisition of property, BEME  BEMEEZEN
plant and equipment BRAX 164,893 134,314
Other tax payables H AR 578,619 661,868
VAT payables FEFTIEER 125,502 136,536
LAT payables FERT £ IR AT - 61,096
Other payables H A pE50E 126,836 89,485
2,257,166 2,544,365
Bills payables (Note) FERT SRR (P EE) 477,593 474,379
2,734,759 3,018,744
Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2023 was payables for ik : MZZZ=F+ZA=+—8 EHE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$78,944,000 (2022: BREENEEME - BERRENE
HK$10,148,000). 5178 78,944,000 L (=T == F :

10,148,000/ 7T) °

B 5 RNEFREER BN HREHRHE
BREHZREANIAT

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

—EC-=5F T F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FBT FHT

0-90 days 0Z290H 702,995 858,646
91-180 days 91%180H 35,121 43,435
Over 180 days 180H A F 54,847 62,219
792,963 964,300
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26.
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2022: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group related to trade payables in which the
Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement of
trade payables, which are aged within 90 days (2022: 90 days) at the
end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group entities to which they relate:

EHEERERBRLF

BEEZREMENRRAREMNRE
(&)

BEERNTHEEMROA(ZE
ZZ% 0 90R) - AKERITMEE L
BEREBRAERMNERNEREHRA

£
=g

AEERBESENERBEENENE
% HPEmaREEES D AR
RRGEEE HEMNRE - BRI ARS
HMARBHOE(ZE =4 : 90R)
ZA e

B NEMENRALENRBERET
SIS EE R 2 e R AN EH
FHEZ U

2023 2022

—B-=fF —E-CF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Us$ e 1,084,477 764,902

HK$ BT 61,484 11,966

Japanese Yen (“JPY”) Hot 2,670 3,631

Contract liabilities Y =L

2023 2022

—EC=HF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH&T BT

Sales of properties HEWE 15,678 23,016
Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates HERA WM EERmIR

and upstream materials B IRER & e 331,445 351,134

347,123 374,150

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$2,773,455,000.

R-ZZE-—_F—F—H A{aEsHE
/52,773,455,000/8 7T ©
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B RS AR M

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26.
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

Contract liabilities arising from sales of properties as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are expected to be realised within one year (2022:
one year) at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of
contract liabilities arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper
laminates and upstream materials as at 31 December 2023 and
2022, are expected to be realised within one year at the end of the

reporting period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised in the current year
relating to contract liabilities at 31 December 2022 and 31 December

2021.

EHEEW®E)
RZEZ=FRZF_ZF+=A
=+—R  HEDENSHNAEENER
SHRB —F(ZF=Z=F : —F)R
B R =FR-T__F+=
A=+—0  HEREEBEERND
R BBRERE LR ENAE
METEBERRERRET —FRE
i/@bo

TR TAFER_FT=__F+=8
=t+—BR-ZE-_—&+=-A=+—8
AKX BEERNEEE -

Sales of

glass epoxy
laminates, paper
laminates and

Sales of upstream
properties materials
HERERE
BEBRER
HEFEEAR R
HEWE Eis
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FTERT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z_=f+-A=+-—H
IHFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract st A-Z-—F+-A=+—H
liabilities balance at 31 December 2022 BREBRENDHEAEE
i 23,016 351,134
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2-_E-__F+-A=1+—H
IHFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract st A—ZE-—F+_-A=+—H
liabilities balance at 31 December 2021 EHEERENEHEREE
2 2,524,350 294,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continueq)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities during
the year ended 31 December 2022. As this accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period of
construction, it increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to the
customer.

Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream
materials

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

26.

EHEERERBRLF

BREE®E)
AN RIEREERRANENAESHE
RN

. HEMF

AEERFT L YEE B R
BEEWEEE NG HEE0%E
50%/)iEe - WHREFEISHHA
PRSI AT B T A 493K
18 o iEd RIEN BT IS EE
EMEREPRERENEE -
HERPISE T YEayis i
BlE o

AN - REER A - FBARIER
ElHBERBENKS - Ft - R
BEoBELERIEASEETEEE
ZEIZF+ZA=1+—HIEF
EMEERERRERMEENTY
e AR o MR ERTIERE N
EEPRNANEESE B8
TR HEERER PRI
EMEERNE TSR -

. HERABBAEERER - &
E AR K Lokt

REBE SR EEEEF B ATE
2o IR E0HRBRERE
HEE BEEZEEEWITHIE
(BNZE %kaéﬁwg%%
BlE - AEBEREREZERE
BEFEIB0% E50% L%
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27.

RIS SRR B
==
LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HEEGE
2023 2022
—EC=5F T4
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE
Within one year —F R 563 560
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BB E
but not more than two years 213 203
Within a period of more than two years RF A HBT BB F
but not more than five years 34 238
Within a period of more than five years BB AF 828 852
1,638 1,853
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months & : JREIBEFRI12EA R
shown under current liabilities B E S (563) (560)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown  3EjREN B EFR121E A £ T
under non-current liabilities e e 1,075 1,293

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The weighted average incremental borrowing
rates applied by the relevant group entities range from 2.49% to 5.24%
(2022: 1.11% to 4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

28. BANK BORROWINGS

28. SRITEE

2023 2022
—EC=5F B
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Unsecured EER
Bank loans RITER 4,419,137 4,400,000
Trust receipt loans EFEUUEE R 32,257 -
4,451,394 4,400,000
Carrying amount repayable: AR TSI HAREE 2 BREE
Within one year —FR 1,759,086 200,000
Within a period of more than one year —F A HEEBBRF
but not more than two years 1,076,923 1,107,692
Within a period of more than two years RF A FBTBBRHF
but not more than five years 1,615,385 3,092,308
4,451,394 4,400,000
Carrying amount repayable within one year based RGBS EE FEHiHE
on repayment schedules dates set out inthe loan R EHE SRR HEIR —
agreements shown under current liabilities FREZENETE 1,759,086 200,000
Add: Amounts shown under non-current liabilites 0 : FIAIEREIN & &2 218 2,692,308 4,200,000
4,451,394 4,400,000

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings amounted to
HK$3,500,000,000 (2022: HK$4,400,000,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest at HIBOR + 0.976% (2022: from
HIBOR + 0.986% to HIBOR + 1.08%) per annum. As at 31 December
2023, bank borrowings of HK$951,394,000 (2022:

interest rates of 0.89% to 4.14% (2022: nil).

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 5.59%

(2022: 5.81%) per annum.

RZZE_=F+_-_A=+—8 ' 17
& &3,500,000,000/8 7L (=T~ —
4,400,000,000/87C) BIZBIEE + F8
EAFEBRITRAZEFENM0.976/2 (=
T F - HBRITREZENEHN0.986
EEZEBBRITREFREIN1.08E) T
HE R E_=ZFF+_A=+—H R
1TEE951,394,0008 T (=2 ==
) REEFR0.89% E414% (=&
TITF EEB

nil) carry fixed

AEEBITEBEZERFEEBE(HE
REFTHFER) B5QE(ZTE ==
5.81E) o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPBHRME
4= £
28. BANK BORROWINGS (continueq) 28. RITEE
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated RITERBIEUATAEBEETE &
in currency other than functional currency of the relevant group BENINEE T ERNSE -
entities:
2023 2022
—E2-=fF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET
JPY HJT 135,663 -
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. A
Authorised Issued and fully paid
HE ERITREHREHE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
RE#BA Eaxcl RIEE ixc}
’000 HK$'000 ’000 HK$°000
TR THERT TR TET
Ordinary shares of FREBE0A0E L ERK -
HK$0.10 each:
At 1 January 2022, W-Z-_—F—-H—H-
31 December 2022 and —Z-—H#+-A=+—H
31 December 2023 k=T -=F+-/A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,120,000 312,000
All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares in issue BTN AERNES HEHEEE D 3
in all respects. TN =B RSk
30. SHARE OPTIONS 30. BEPRRE
The share option scheme of the Company (“KLHL Scheme”) was AN TR B2 ([ EBREt
approved by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL on 29 ZNER-_E—+FEFRA -+ ALHER
May 2017, and the KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval BREEEEREIE  MEBESEER
from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November HENEEBSET FTTE S @ EER
2017. The purpose of the KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or —E—FE+—F B4 B EEE
reward to the eligible participants of the KLHL Scheme (as listed METEIMER S B R B sk BB iy
below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the FEERE A ERREE (IR
interests of the Group. 5I)) HHHR AN W FI 25 10 B Bt RS
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B RS AR M

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years. The Board
may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for shares in the
Company to (i) eligible participants who contribute to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Company and include any employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time and including
any executive director), consultants or advisers of the Company, any
of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which the Group
holds an equity interest; (i) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

The exercise price of the Company’s share in respect of any option
granted under the KLHL Scheme was determined with reference
to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the
average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 23 April 2017.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL Scheme
(excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the KLHL Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of the
KLHL Scheme by the Shareholders and the shareholders of KHL
(i.e. 312,100,000 shares of the Company, representing 10.0% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the date these
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue).

The number of options available for grant under the KLHL Scheme
was 232,200,000 as at 1 January 2023 and 196,300,000 as at
31 December 2023. The number of shares that may be issued in
respect of options granted under the KLHL Scheme during 2023
(i.e. 35,900,000) divided by the weighted average number of issued
shares of the Company for 2023 was 1.15%. As at the date of this
annual report, the number of options available for grant under the
Scheme was 196,300,000 representing 6.29% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in issue
unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of KHL in
general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 36,900,000 options were
granted by the Company on 23 June 2022 under the KLHL Scheme,
of which 29,000,000 options were granted to Directors and 7,900,000
were granted to employees of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 35,900,000 options were
granted by the Company on 28 July 2023 under the KLHL Scheme,
of which 29,000,000 options were granted to Directors and 6,900,000
were granted to employees of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, 36,900,000 options remained outstanding
under the KLHL Scheme, representing 1.2% of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The closing price of the Company’s
shares on 22 June 2022 (namely the date immediately before the
aforesaid grant date) is HK$9.46. The estimated fair value of the
aforesaid options was HK$48,000,000, of which HK$37,724,000 was
attributable to the options granted to Directors while HK$10,276,000
was attributable to the options granted to employees of the Company.
The fair value of each of the abovementioned options was identical,
namely HK$1.3008. All share options were vested on the date of
grant, 23 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this annual report,
72,800,000 options remained outstanding under the KLHL Scheme,
representing 2.3% of the shares of the Company in issue at the
respective dates. The closing price of the Company’s shares on 28
July 2023 (namely the date immediately before the aforesaid grant
date) is HK$7.80. The estimated fair value of the aforesaid options
was HK$48,750,000, of which HK$39,378,000 was attributable to
the options granted to Directors while HK$9,372,000 was attributable
to the options granted to employees of the Company. The fair
value of each of the abovementioned options was identical, namely
HK$1.3579. All share options were vested on the date of grant, 28
July 2023 and there was no vesting period and performance targets
attached to the options granted. The weighted average closing price
of the shares immediately before the dates on which the options were
vested was HK$7.69. None of the vested share options have been
exercised.

As at 31 December 2023, there was no participant with share options
granted in excess of the 1% individual limit under the Listing Rules.
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30. SHARE OPTIONS (coninued) 30. BREw
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no option has lapsed REE_E-_=F+_-_A=1+—HBIF
or has been exercised, or cancelled under the KLHL Scheme. As B BEELERERIEEEE Jﬁﬁi
at 31 December 2023, 72,800,000 outstanding share options were stk TESEE N -=
exercisable (2022: 36,900,000). F+=—A=+—H ' 72,800,000 Hu
RITEEREN TIIE(ZT = —F
36,900,00013) °
A summary of the movements of the number of share options under BE-_Z_=FK-_ZT-_—_%+=-A1
the scheme for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as =+—RAIEFE - ZETEET 2 ERE
follows: HEZEBatnT
Balance at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Balance at Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price
Date of grant 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023 pershare  Exercisable period
R-B=-=& R-B-=f&
-A-H t=B=t-A
RHAH i RERRY  REATR  RERXR REREH ik SBROKE AR
Granted to the Directors
(Note 1)
RTEZ(H)
28 June 2022 29,000,000 - - - - 29,000,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 t0 22 June 2032
“Z--FAAZTZA 9.728%TT Z;’Ziﬁ/\ﬂ +=H%
ZT=CERRZTCH
28 July 2023 - 29,000,000 - - - 29,000,000 HK$7.800 28 JuIy 202310 27 July 2033
S s iy A= 7800BT  —EZ=HtA-TNHZ
ZT==ELACTLA
Granted to employees
(Note 2)
RTES (W)
28 June 2022 7,900,000 - - - - 7,900,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to 22 June 2032
“Z--FAAZTZA 9.728%TT Z;’Ziﬁ/\ﬂ +=H%
ZT=CERRZTCH
28 July 2023 - 6,900,000 - - - 6,900,000 HK$7.800 28 July 2023 to 27 July 2033
S s i AN 7.800 7T _q_ﬁtﬂ T/AAZ
ZT==ELRCTLA
36,900,000 35,900,000 - - - 72,800,000

= FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

30. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

Balance at Granted Exercised Lapsed
1 January during during during
Date of grant 2022 the year the year the year
-A-A
il zE 2% RERREE RERAR  REREN REREH
Granted to the Directors
(Note 1)
RFEE()
23 June 2022 - 29,000,000 - -
S =
Granted to employees
(Note 2)
RFER(E2)
23 June 2022 - 7,900,000 - -
S =

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

30. BERRAE )

Balance at Exercise
31 December price Exercise
2022 pershare  Exercisable period

FT——
=z
Z

TZA=t-H i

&R BRORE  AOEER

29,000,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to 22 June 2032

97887 —E--EAB-T=HZ
ZE=CFRACTCA

7,900,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to 22 June 2032

97887 —E--EAB-T=HZ
ZE=CFRACTCA

- 36,900,000 - -

36,900,000

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$48,750,000 (2022:
HK$48,000,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023 in related to
the above 35,900,000 (2022: 36,900,000) share options granted by
the Company.

Notes:

The names of the grantees are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report.

Including 10,800,000 (2022: 5,900,000) share options held by Ms. Cheung
Wai Kam, spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of KHL. Ms. Cheung Wai
Kam also is an associate of Director by virtue of her relationship with several
executive Directors of the Company. She is the sister of Mr. Cheung Kwok
Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping. Ms. Cheung
Wai Kam had a balance of 5,900,000 share options at the beginning of the
year ended 31 December 2023. She was granted 4,900,000 share options
during the year ended 31 December 2023. All 4,900,000 share options
were vested on the date of grant, 28 July 2023. None of the share options
granted were exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HEe_Z2-_=F+=-A=+—HL
FE AELEEREARARFTHBO L
35,900,000/ ( =2 = — 4 : 36,900,000
19 ) B AR 4 7 2R 5 2 4288 48,750,00078
JL( =T~ —4F : 48,000,000/ 7T) °

™) HERAASNAFR B S —
£ o

@ PREEEEEERMIRELENRS -
RIESLLHH10,800,000( =T ==
F : 5,900,00019 )19 FEARHE - RIFD L
TIRIR R ERA A BB E B RIRE R
EFEHEA - HAREELE - RE
WEAERKBATRENBERK - BHEZ
T F+_A=+—HILFEY
3R 1E S & A 5,900,00017 8 Pt #4
Ho-HE_Z-_=F+-A=1+—H1t
FE - H#E1%4,900,00017 B B4 © BT
H4,900,0000 EEIRERFZHAR-F
—ZFEEAZHN\BRE - FARED
B BRI T - SREH TR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

30. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The fair value of the options granted under the KLHL Scheme during

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was estimated as

at the date of grant using the Binomial option pricing model, taking

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were

granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:
Share price at grant date B A HARRE
Exercise price TE(E
Expected life TEHAF HA
Expected dividend yield TEAARR Bl zs
Expected volatility Tﬁﬁiﬁﬁ@j
Risk-free interest rate [ B ) =
Early exercise multiple (Directors) Tm 1T EE(ES)
Early exercise multiple (Employees) RRITEEE(EES)

30.

EHEERERBRLF

Eﬁ H‘E*‘E (%)

BE_Z_=-FR-_FT-_—_F+—-A
=t+—BLFE  REBREEERE
RibmELBRIEZ A FHERRL AR
RoEAMREEEELGE  XEEE
SRR h IR R A o TRES
BT R AR

As of As of

28 July 2023 23 June 2022
BE-ZT-=F HE_T__F
+tA=+NH ~NAZ-+=H

HK$7.800 HK$9.550
7.80078 T 9.550/5 7T
HK$7.800 HK$9.728
7.800& 7T 9.728% 7T
10 years 10 years
105 104
5.66% 15.81%
40.463% 39.132%
3.840% 2.632%
1.23x 1.23x
1.231% 1.231%
1.22x 1.22x
1.224% 1.221%

The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date of
grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over previous 10 years. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on the Directors’ best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

ABREMREBENEEBREAEANS
REZEETERENBE -

TEHPR R TIRBE AR A RIRERNBETF
ZELRBEE - EREEREMLE
B 2 BEIFHIC R E R 2 17T
RN TERV AT REFEERRZ
FEMBHE -

B FFR
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30.

31.

B RS AR M

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variable and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the Directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

The share options outstanding had a weighted average exercise price
of HK$8.777 (2022: HK$9.728), and the weighted average remaining
contract lives of the outstanding share options are approximately 9.75
years (2022: 10 years) as at 31 December 2023.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, share premium, reserves and retained profits as disclosed in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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31.

EIRRE o)

—IRIE S B R TR AR A FAE - 3
HIBREATEZ BYRBRDERE
2 BT - MBEER LR
B2 SYRTRATRIE -

R-Z-=F+-A=+—8 HET
FERERER T ITEE AR TITE
TT(ZZE-—4F:972887T) » MEA
ITE AR IR A OF B
BITSF(ZZE_F 1 105F) »

EXEBEE

BARREREEAREEE IR ERURER
BERCEHERAGFAREREA
FRESE®R  EAKEE TEEEN
FEEE - AEB 2 BERIKEBESF
EARR °

AR A SR B RANE - AEEZ
BAERERRTEERHEERR(H
BReMRELEEER) RAREFE
AEIEHR (BREEITRA - BE
B FHEREEN) -

EEBFTRMENER - EREHN—
B BEEBEREAKAE  REXE
MEAREREZRER - EFERR - NEE
BB AR BEITHR  BER
-~ BITHEREBEQRBEIE - AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e KRR MEE
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. #@TH
(@ Categories of financial instruments (@ £sITAEEH
THE GROUP
AEE

2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET

Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB EKATTENSRMEE 8,790,037 10,009,439
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEF AT Em T A 2,037,804 1,421,718

Debt instruments at FVTOCI BEAFEFAEMEZEKE L

BEETA 96,452 104,352
10,924,293 11,535,509

Financial liabilities -y =R

Amortised cost B HAAR
- trade and other payables — 8 5 RHMPERIRK 1,084,692 1,188,099
- bills payables —ENZEE 477,593 474,379
— dividends payable — FESTRE R 187,200 468,000
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries — R A B AR IE 46,767 47,587
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 4,451,394 4,400,000
6,247,646 6,578,065

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BXEMREEBEZERBER
policies
Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in AEEN S/ TAFISR AN
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial %Eﬁ?i o ZEC R T AR R
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate @Tﬁm%ﬂﬁ (E¥RERE ﬂ
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The b R M EEER)  FE
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. mBERER - BIEZE
The management manages and monitors these exposures MZB( REZIWT - BIREE
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely BREEZERR - LREREE
and effective manner. B B EGE & 2 1
Market risk %Rk
Currency risk B
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency RARETHERRAINEETT
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign HERRE A% I7¥K§$7|\
currency risk. Approximately 8% (2022: 7%) of the Group’s B Eby o REMAB%(ZT
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional F 7% EVIHE I FELAETTIHE
currency of the relevant group entities making the sale, whilst BRI E E R ThaE EHIIE -
almost 26% (2022: 27%) of purchases are denominated in M&I26%(ZFZ=F : 27%)H)
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant FRAE I FELAETTER B R SR [
group entities. BRI E8IE -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and RMERR - AEEASEEE
monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the B EE N ERFTENE
respective group entities’ functional currencies at the end of BEENEBaENKREMED
the reporting period are as follows: N
2023 2022
—EBCo=F —E-F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =N BE a8E&
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FTHET FHT FiT
Us$ Eie 540,780 (1,084,477) 949,302 (764,902)
JPY = - (138,333) - (8,531)
HK$ BT 106,987 (61,484) 99,370 (11,966)
GBP g 10,395 - 10,085 -
The management continuously monitors the foreign exchange BT B BRI NE RS - AT
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk REE B E EL RINERR -

should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following
table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%)
increase and decrease in functional currency of respective
group entities against the relevant foreign currencies,
excluding the exposures on balances denominated in US$
of respective group entities of which functional currencies
are HK$, since the Directors are of the opinion that such
exposures are not significant as HK$ is pegged to US$. 5%
(2022: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of reporting period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade
and other receivables, bills receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payables and debt instruments at
FVTOCI. A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase (a decrease) in post-tax profit for the year where
functional currency of each group entity strengthen 5% (2022:
5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% (2022: 5%)
weakening of functional currency of each group entity against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

EEEEMERERQF

32. EMT A

(b)

BERAREEEEREEK
(%)
TS ER(E)
B (48)
BRE DT
AEFEEZEmEET - HE B
TTRHEGHINEFBIRR - TR
HIAEESESEETEYEE
B R INE T 5% (- T = =
F5%)MEEE - TEIENLE
BEEABTHSEBEEINET
SHEMEHR R - ARBTH
e - EERAEHERKL
TEK 5% (ZZFE=F : 5%)
TEBEEINER R IR
ARE TG - FREDIE
BIFE M AR B B ASNE FIME )
BH YIRS RS R B 2 INE
[ERE5%(ZEZ—F : 5%)%&
ERIRHAE - RESTBIEE
SR EAFEIRBRTR « FEUERE
RITHEH LIRS - BHNHME
ERFR ~ BRI IR A FER
ARk ZEE TR T
NIE(B)BESEEEEMNIE
B H BRI INE F (B2)E5%
TECF 5%) 0 RFE
BE R EITEMCRD) - &
ZREEEENNESEE L AM
SN (E5% (= F = — 4 : 5%)
B AlREHI AT ERBEETAE
BEZEg: 2

2023 2022

—E-=4F T4

HK$’°000 HK$’'000

FH&T FET

us$ ETT 20,373 (6,693)
JPY Hit (5,183) 128
HK$ BT (1,705) (3,172)
GBP ES o (390) (366)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

BEXZR R ARFERRIL TR
BREFAER - HERE D HTEE
BROSNERBR T = WEARE -

B FFR
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest, fixed-rate
lease liabilities, bank balances and fixed-rate bank borrowings
(see Note 18 for details of these listed bond securities, Note
27 for details of lease liabilities, Note 25 for details of cash and
cash equivalents and Note 28 for details of bank borrowings).
The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free
rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as follows:

EHEERERBRLF

SRT R

(b)

MBRAREEERREE
()

T A ()

FIE R ()
AR AR B IR D TE A
A2 EKE s SREAENET

BUA WALT -
2023 2022
—Eo=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Interest revenue FLEMA
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFER AR MEERE
ZEREE 4,342 8,433
Other income EaugA
Financial assets at amortised cost TR ATTEN S EE 35,644 31,204

Interest on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL:

3'5& EF@{I»A%E n+iéh%ﬁ‘-ﬁ
BEZHE

2023 2022

—E=F T F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHBT

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBER AT ENS ARG 285,159 146,117
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis
points (2022: 50 basis points) increase or 100 basis points
(2022: 50 basis points) decrease are used and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the Directors consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

AT S8R E A ITRIE RS iR 45
REARITEENFXERE
TE o REZOWR + BENRE
HMARZE ARz A
REEFFE AR E o 100EE S
—E - F  50fEREBE) A
FI00EEZ(ZT = =F : 50
f%%ﬁ)i}ﬁyﬁ,ﬁﬁ%mﬁmf
MEEREHN R ELE
EOEWE BREED $ﬁ1ﬂ@¢ﬁﬂ

“EH o REREERA  FB
ﬁﬁmnﬁéﬁéimfﬁéﬁéfrwﬂ
BRRK o

B FFR
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 100 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2023 would decrease/increase by HK$29,225,000 as a result
of the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
borrowings (2022: HK$18,370,000).

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk and debt price risk
through its investments in equity instruments at FVTPL and
debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange, debt instrument
at FVTOCI traded in over-the-counter, the management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group has appointed
a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would increase/
decrease by HK$170,157,000 (2022: increase/decrease by
HK$118,714,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity instruments at FVTPL.
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FIE 7z (4E)

HRRE DT (E)

fitd ¥ & £ F+ /TP 100 16 & 24
—E - 4 50fEERL) BFT
BEEMEERPBIE  AEEHE
EZT-=F+ZA=+—HL
FEMNREFBERD,EM
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18,370,000/ 7T) * RAZARE
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B o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Other price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2022: 10%) higher/lower, the other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would increase/
decrease by HK$9,645,000 (2022: increase/decrease by
HK$10,435,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
debt instruments at FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to
perform their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers. However, the Group is
exposed to the concentration on geographic segment in the
PRC. At 31 December 2023, approximately 90% (2022: 89%)
of the Group’s trade receivables are arising from the PRC.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.

£ET A

(b)

EHEERERBRLF

i

MHEREEBEEREEK
()

iRk (&)

E (B ()

HRRE DT (E)

S EB TR EREM SR
10%(ZZE=—F 1 10%)  #H=E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

32. EMT A

Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEER
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBRRABEFE(E)
Collective assessments B
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group AEESEFEANBEERT
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following B ERAEEEFERRER
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk B—Em o TRIEHRBE=Z
for trade receivables which are assessed based on collective =T -A=t+—HERZ2H
assessments as at 31 December 2023 within lifetime ECL B EEBENE 2 FE S
(not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross HHESEBEFEERBER
carrying amounts of HK$40,396,000 (2022: HK$80,595,000) (BEERE) - HEEELER
were assessed individually. Credit-impaired debtors are fully 40,396,000 TL( =T = — 4 :
provided for ECL. 80,595,000/ 7T ) M {5 BURE &
EAEIT T EBIEHE - EERE
B AZEREEREERHE -
For the year ended 31 December 2023: BHE-ZT-=F+=-A=+—H
LEFE -
Gross
carrying
amount of
trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
B S EWERR i BHEE B S EW
A= EFTLR RREEARE EEREE &8 BRAFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET FET
Low risk KRR 1,585,061 1% - 5% 62,554 1,522,507
Watch list B E 1,718,119  10% - 25% 283,619 1,434,500
Doubtful RER 221,770 30% - 35% 77,620 144,150
3,524,950 423,793 3,101,157
For the year ended 31 December 2022: HeE—_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Gross
carrying
Amount of
trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
2 5 AR o BHIEE E%F’Eﬂﬁl
PR BSR4 BREERRE EE R E &8 BRFFEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FA&T
Low risk {igEN oy 1,899,415 1% — 5% 94,970 1,804,445
Watch list BLERP B 1,442,516 10% - 25% 296,958 1,145,558
Doubtful RER 292,747 30% - 35% 102,462 190,285
3,634,678 494,390 3,140,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal

credit rating Description

A RS B REAR it

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default

e HFTELHRBE

Watch list Doubtful debtors frequently repay after
due dates but usually settle in full

EERAE BERNFRNEBALENRIHARZ
EEFE  BRFEA2EEE

Doubtful There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed internally
or external resources

RAR B ANED A K S NB B R ER A & R R
EERK B VA ERARAEZE L7

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

&8 EEBREREELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

WisH BRBERNEBABAREVR
BASEEEEEe I EHIE

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by the management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

£ET A

(b)

Trade receivables

B 5 EWR

Lifetime ECL

EHEERERBRLF

i

BEEREEBERBE
(&)

FERBRRERNGE(E)
Brv (R)
AEEARREERBF AR EE
AT 8

Other financial
assets/other item

HitveMEE HRE

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—EBERRIE

Lifetime ECL

12{A A EHEEEE

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—BERRIE

Lifetime ECL

— not credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—BERRE

Lifetime ECL

— credit-impaired
2 HIFEEME R SR

- 15 £ \/JFME

Amount is written off

SRR

12{A A EHEEEE

Lifetime ECL
— not credit-impaired

ZHITEREEE IR
—BEERE

Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired
2 EFE A E BT
—EERE

Amount is written off

SRR

fhaH 18 R T E R UK AR S B R
FHHNESBERMBELOERMG
it WhES B RARS
HENA SR ATIE A RHEH
2 .BEEHETHEMSOE U
EREN S ERKIERNEREE
B RERFT o

—FEFR
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Collective assessments (continued)

The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that

ﬁ@IE—\ &)
b) HBEBEEEEREE

(%)
FERRKBERE(E)
BV (&)
TREIIREEOEERSES

has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified IR BRTEEEEERE
approach. EEF o
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HITEH 2 HTEH
FEEE FEEE
(BEERE) (EERE) st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_%—AF—H 606,633 54,962 661,595
Changes relating to trade R-TE-_—F—F—HEE
receivables recognised ﬁEu B S REKERRE BN
as at 1 January 2022 ~  # b=ED)
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EESEERE (8,030) 8,030 -
— Net impairment losses reversal ~ — B[l R{EE 12 F5E (302,341) (10,286) (312,627)
Write-offs i - (3,034) (3,034)
New financial assets originated AEEELENTEREE
during the year 283,849 - 283,849
Transfer to credit-impaired during AN E#EE = ERIE
the year (36,814) 36,814 -
Exchange adjustments 0E W AR (48,907) (5,891) (54,798)
At 31 December 2022 WN_E-__—F+_A=+—
H 494,390 80,595 574,985
Changes relating to trade RZTE—=F—H—A#E
receivables recognised ﬁEu B SRR A R
as at 1 January 2023 b=ED)
— Transfer to credit-impaired —ERSZERE (6,536) 6,536 -
— Net impairment losses reversal ~— —#EIJE(EE 18 /F5 (295,814) (41,052) (336,866)
Write-offs i = (4,814) (4,814)
New financial assets originated AEEELENTEHEE
during the year 238,359 - 238,359
Exchange adjustments (RIS (6,606) (869) (7,475)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-_=F+=-A=+—H 423,793 40,396 464,189

The reversal of lifetime ECL for trade receivables that are
credit-impaired is mainly due to the subsequent settlement
in full of trade debtors with a gross carrying amount of
HK$41,052,000 (2022: HK$10,286,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

Debt instruments at FVTOC/

At 31 December 2023, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its debt instruments at FVTOCI as 86% (2022:
60%) of the total debt are concentrated in one (2022: two)
bond securities listed on the Irish Stock Exchange (2022:
SGX) and issued by one (2022: one) listed issuer in Hong
Kong. The Group’s listed bond securities are exposed to
credit risk due to the default of repayment by the bond issuers.

£ET A

(b)

EHEERERBRLF

i

BREERBREEEBRERBEE
(%)
FEEW&H@ (%)
REATHL ()
ﬁﬁéﬂ@m£$EE£ el
TRE - BER I ENE R
Eﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%iﬁk
WAZRAL)  AEEEMIES
BE - WEER - E%ﬁ&@ﬁ
Rig  AEEARENEREKR
RFRERMEN S REE

JEWZ IR

RETE RN EENBHREEESR
B ERCEEAEEE WEE
R—FREE - B+ —_@EAE
HEEEEET2RBEBETH
INEMEERERATE - WBHAER
AREBR T -_=FKr_-_FT_—
F+-A=t+—BRIHENE
BEOANEEERBRSTRE

E@EW%&
RETEHMERKZNBESHE
é%ﬁ% BEECREBEESLE
Battr - BELS - ARATHE
MHER(ER) - TR HEME
UG BR SR A AT UK [E1 72 2 (ERE 22 K2 (@
AFHE - HE_ZE_=ZFR_F
TR+ AZt+—HIEEE
AEEEE B R RAAENEM
JIE UK FRIE R 5P 38 4 RAFIE MR
KFE - WREAREE KRB HHEAAD
JEBR A TE R B BB R
i o

BNFEFIAR M2 H K e 2 (&

KT A
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H"
AEEMEAFEFAREMEE

WHZEBTAEESEHREER
B EEBLRTEF  86% (=
- - 60% ) EFE—E(=ZF
::Erw%&%%tmm%
TABETH—R(ZZ2 ==
—HEERHELFRZA(=Z
TZF IR EmEESE
% o $EIMLmE%E%%x
FERR REEEHEITAY
aﬁ’@ﬂﬁm °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, defaults of a bond
issuer in making payments of interest and principal for its
indebtedness indicated significant increase in credit risk and
deterioration of repayment ability. Thus, credit loss allowance
of two of debt instruments at FVTOCI are measured on
lifetime ECL basis.

The Group had engaged an independent qualified valuer
to perform ECL assessment on these debt instruments
by determining an appropriate probability of default, the
estimated loss given default of each debt instrument and
forward-looking adjustments. The Directors work closely with
the independent qualified valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, ECL on debt
instruments at FVTOCI of HK$270,000 was recognised in
profit or loss (2022: HK$186,501,000).

For the remaining debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by other
bonds issuer, the Directors considered that the credit risk on
these investments is limited as the bonds securities listed on
the Irish Stock Exchange (2022: SGX) and issued by listed
issuer in Hong Kong with good creditability. The Directors
assess 12m ECL on these debt instruments at FVTOCI based
on the default rates published by major international credit
rating agencies that are applicable to the respective debts
instruments. As a result of this assessment, the Directors
are of the opinion that the ECL on these debt instruments is
insignificant.
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£ET A

(b)

i

BHEREEEERRE
()

EERRREETEE)

R FEFSARMEE 2 E
BTAE)
BHE-_ZT-—_F+=-RA=+—H
WHFE - —REHFETARER
HEEBIAFERAS - BBRE
ERBARENEERENE
b Bt - RAFEFAE M S
ARSI REEE TANEEE
BREEEE BB EEBERE
EEHE o

REECDZRBILA ERGER
BBBERENEORE - £E&
BT AMMFHEAIER K L ATHE
MEFEE %%iﬁ%lﬂtﬁﬁ
HEEEIRT M - BB

EREEMEEEE Hﬂm

BE 7 E *ﬁﬁ&m&%kﬁ
e

BE_T_=Ft+_A=1t—H
LHFE - RAFEFAEMEH

WHz BB TANBHEES
$8270,0008 TL(Z T ==
186,501,000 70 ) B 1A 18 25 7
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BAFEFAEMEE R &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

For amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in order to minimise
the credit risk, Directors continuously monitor the settlement
status and the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In the opinion of
the Directors, the probability of default is negligible as these
fellow subsidiaries either have the financial capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term or is
financially supported by the ultimate holding company, and
concluded that the credit risk is insignificant. Accordingly, the
ECL on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries is insignificant.

Bank balances

The Directors considers the bank balances that are deposited
with the financial institutions with good credit rating to be low
credit risk financial assets. The management considers the
bank balances are short-term in nature and the probability of
default is negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers,
and accordingly, ECL was considered as insignificant.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts
was HK$12,441,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$148,361,000). At the end of the reporting period, the
Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at
an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management considers
the probability of default is low and accordingly, ECL was
considered as insignificant. Details of the financial guarantee
contracts are set out in Note 35.

£ET A

(b)

EHEERERBRLF

i

BREERBREEEBRERBEE
(#)

FERRKBERE(E)
f%ﬁ?WEAnm
W E R BARRIEMS
ﬁiTm/ﬁE%ﬂM BE=5
BESBERERERKE - A
FEORBRENERAE Fi5 e Y2 (B 8 HA R A+
ZEE - EZRR - BR%ER
EIEPNCIE Rt SE Y
EﬁAm%ﬁéﬁiﬁﬁim?
R ARIRMHI TSRS - BUE
KRR REEICT EOL - XRAE
EHVTK FE - FEU R 2B
BARFRZBREEERRT
EW

RITHAR
EERREHNEEFRRITH
DRI 2 RITAEGAREER
RERMEE - BERERA/RITLE
EBREHARE - BEETRRIFHE
RO E RN - FALTEEE
BEEERAM T RE

B BEIRE AT
HHMBEREOME - AEBER
R =F+ZA=+—HIRE
EENERNESEELAR
12,441,000 (= E ==
148,361,000 7T ) ° )‘M& B;ﬁ
X‘%%Ei& /)—X{En:ﬁﬁ u/u
VBERENZIEER MQW%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2023, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowing facilities of HK$8,105,347,000
(2022: HK$7,374,337,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued) 32. €T R
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEER
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESEMR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables B E 2 RFIFE &
Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1 year 2years
average  Ondemand but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan ~ morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years Syears  cashflows amount
nEYH  RERE ZEANL -EME RENML REE
EBAE  ZEBA BTEE-F BTEEREF BTERRE  IENL ReREsE R
%  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000 HKS000  HK$'000
TR TR T TERL TR T TR
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+-F=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabiliies ~ 3:f74 AR
Tradk and other payables BAREMENER - 1,084,692 - - - - 1084692 1,084,692
Blls payables e - 477,593 - - - - 477,598 477,59
Dividends payable EARA - 187,200 - - - - 187,200 187,200
Amounts due to felow subsidares ~ EREZNBAAEE > 46,767 - - - - 46,767 46,767
Bank borrowings #1RE
- fixed rate -EE 245 325,239 639,701 - - - 964,940 951,304
- varigble rate ) 6.4 - 846,683 1,220,018 1,989,609 - 405310 3500000
Lease liabiltes HEER 4,86 140 40 24 4 1,101 1,956 1,638
2121631 1486824 1220252 1,989,650 1,101 6819458 6,249,284
Financial quarantee contracts BBERAY - 12,441 - - - - 12,441 12,441
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued) . EWMIHe
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEER
policies (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBELERR(HE)
Liquidiity and interest risk tables (continued) T E % RFIF R (&)
Qver QOver QOver
Weighted 3 months Tyear 2 years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effectie  orlessthen  morethan  morethen  more than Over  undiscounted Caming
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
mER  REfE ZEANE -ENE RENE FE
EAHE  zRERR ETEE-F BTEARE ETEERE  RENL BeNEgE GEE
% HK$000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000 HKS'000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
At31 December 2022 2y gl e =
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 2RERE
Trade and other payables G ARAERER - 1188099 - - - - 1188099 1,188,099
Bils payables ENEE - a9 - - - - A3y 474379
Dividends payable R - 468,000 - - - - 468,000 468,000
Amounts due tofelow subsidaries R FZIHBAREE - 5 - - - - 47587 47587
Bank borrowings Bt
- Varigble rate -%8 581 - 8708 1240034 3812973 - 526175 4400000
Lease labiltes HEQE 430 139 43 21 m 1,007 2,165 1853
2,178,204 209144 1240255 3813245 1007 744945 6579918
Financial quarantee contracts SIRERAN - 148361 - - - - 148361 148,361
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, there are no bank MNZEZ=FR T -_—F+—=
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause. A=1+—8 mAEEKEEF

RHYERTTHE K °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in Note 28, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
loans may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform.
The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant Interbank Offered Rate
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark
interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible.

In addition, for a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the
Group had confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR
will continue to maturity.

The Group is not subject to significant risk arising from the
transition in relation to the interest rate benchmark reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Fair value
hierarchy

Fair value as at

Financial assets 31 December
SHEE RT=A=t-ANATE

2023 2022

Iz CERIZE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TEn Fin

AYERRRA

(i) Listed securtties classified as 2,037,804 1421718 1
equity instruments at FVTPL

(| ARARATESAERZER
IEZimﬁ%

(i) Listed bond securtties classified as 96,452 104352 2
debt instruments at FVTOCI

) ARERATESARMZENA

EﬁIﬁZimf%m

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.
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Valuation techniques

and key inputs

$RTH -

(c)

hERHREEAALE

Quoted bid prices in active

market.

ARG N

Quoted prices over-the-

counter markes.

SITEHE -

Significant
unobservable inputs
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Fa &R S AR A B e F2 5 2 Al
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Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 33. ¥4 R H#iu&iE

2023 2022
—EC-=5 B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not B 5T #1BR R 4R A BIFS MR EH BE
provided in the consolidated financial ZERRL ¢
statements for:
- acquisition of property, plant and —EBEYE - BER&E
equipment 33,867 67,838
Other expenditure contracted for but not B 5] #MB R RERE BT S HRhER (B H BiE
provided in the consolidated financial ZHAMRY -
statements for:
- acquisition and other expenditures —BRAFEEMEWER
relating to properties held for HibFx
development = -
33,867 67,838

34. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 34, &=HEZLH

2023 2022
—EC_=5F B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAxT
The Group as lessor: AEEERHEA :
Rental income credited to the consolidated RERF AGZEIEBRER ZHES WA
statement of profit or loss during the year 58,081 61,535
The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for AEECREMEDRBREE TR
periods up to 7 years (2022: 7 years) at fixed predetermined amounts. MeMTE=F  HBsERATF(ZE
ZF L T7F) e

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34.

35.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONTRACTS

The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to HK$12,441,000 as at 31 December 2023 in respect of bank
mortgage loans granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties
(2022: HK$148,361,000). In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.
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W R R M EE
OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 34, &R&HEZH
(continued)
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: FAAEMEIKAESHRET -
2023 2022
—E-=48F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Within one year —F R 47,119 53,504
In the second year RE_F 42,945 45,102
In the third year RE=4F 36,271 19,035
In the fourth year REE 34,643 4,506
In the fifth year RERF 34,415 1,131
After five years AFi% 36,268 291
231,661 123,569
FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 35. BAICIERA Y

RZE-_=F+-_HA=+—H K&EH
MERTAREEDEERNRITRBER
Rt &= E R R 12,441,000 T (=
: 148,361,000/ 7T) - EER
B AEEZSEUBERAONATEE
RIAEREY TEKR - BEERAL
HEFEHORSEN - Bt - RZF
—=FERZE-__F+=ZA=+—H"
PERE KR RIR S HRERE B
WEEREREE -

BRDAAEENEERAERERMEZ
HFRTT - RFEREROERZIND
ERSTRBBIREYME T TR ARITHE
B o
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36.

B RS AR M

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial was originally listed for a five-day hearing from 16 January
to 20 January 2023. On 7 December 2022, the Petitioner made
an application for a Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme
Court of Bermuda and addressed to the Supreme Court of Singapore
(the “Singapore Letter of Request”) for its assistance in the ordering
against two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents
in their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period at least two months. Further to a hearing on 14
December 2022, the issue of the Singapore Letter of Request and the
adjournment were ordered by the Court. Despite the adjournment,
expert reports were exchanged on 16 November 2022, and a joint
expert report has been filed on or around 22 December 2022.

36.

EHEERERBRLF

&/\\\/\1?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

On 27 July 2023, the Petitioner made an another application for a
Letter of Request to be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and
addressed to the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (the “Hong Kong Letter of Request”) for its
assistance in ordering a bank in Hong Kong for production of certain
documents in their possession. Further to a hearing on 24 August
2023, the issue of the Hong Kong Letter of Request was ordered by

the Court on 7 September 2023.

On 18 September 2023, the Petitioner filled a Notice to Admit Facts
requiring the Group to admit several facts related to and/or referred to
in the evidence in support of the Hong Kong Letter of Request. On 28
September 2023, the Group filed a Notice of Non-Admission. The trial

of this matter is to be relisted.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date, the
management is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to
be intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more
than reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for

liability has been made in connection with this claim.
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37.

B RS AR M

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
and are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at 10% of an employee’s
salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2022: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of HK$41,300,000 had been charged
to profit or loss (2022: HK$36,900,000). As at 31 December 2023,
contributions of HK$3,180,000 due in respect of the reporting period
had not been paid over to the plans (2022: HK$2,980,000). The
amounts were paid subsequently to the end of the reporting period.
There is no forfeited contributions that may be used to reduce the
existing level of contributions under the Group’s MPF Scheme and
state-sponsored pension schemes.

37.

EEEEMERERQF
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 38. BIEEHELEZAEZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING ¥R
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TREFVWNAEBME FEELBEE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B BERSNIERSEH  c EHE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EX7AERRESRECR  ERKIE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EREBNAEENGERERERD
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARMEEBMEBRESTENEAE -
activities.
Dividends
payable to
non-
controlling
Lease Interest Dividends interests
liabilities Borrowings payable payable of subsidiaries Total
FEf
WEARZ
FERRRZ
HESR R EfHE ERRA RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n Tin Ti#n T#Er T#n THx
At 1 January 2022 WZE-ZF-A-H 2,198 2,714,902 - 936,000 - 3,663,095
Financing cash flows BEREME (642) 1,685,098 (146,117) (4,680,000) (1,559) (3,143214)
New leases entered HTHE 368 - - _ _ 368
Interest expense capitalised in e TR2EA AL,
the construction in progress |8 E X - - 15,806 - - 15,806
Interest expense recognised in FA4F A TB R K EDRH
the consolidated statement % 8Fi%
of profit or loss 81 - 130,311 - - 130,392
Dividends declared BERRE - - - 4.212,000 - 4,212,000
Dividends declaredtonon-  EAMBARZ
controlling interests of FERREE R
subsidiaries R - - - - 1,553 1,553
Exchange adjustments 5 (147) - - - - (147)
At 31 December 2022 WoE-—#4+-f=+-
H 1,853 4,400,000 - 468,000 - 4,869,853
Financing cash flows BERETE (629) 57,054 (285,159) (1,092,000) - (1,320,734)
New leases entered MEHE 363 - - - - 363
Interest expense capitalised in AR TTERE AL
the construction in progress | 855 - - 11,535 - - 11,535
Interest expense recognised in FA4F A B R K EDH
the consolidated statement  F| 8Fix
of profit or loss 70 - 273,624 - - 273,694
Dividends declared BERRE - - - 811,200 = 811,200
Exchange adjustments [ 5% (19) (5,660) - - - (5,679)
At 31 December 2023 R-B==f
+=ZA=1+-H 1,638 4,451,394 - 187,200 - 4,640,232
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BEALRS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in those consolidated financial G EGAUERREMIBOTIEES
statements, the Group entered into the following significant Gh o REEBAEBEALTEFRNETZE
transactions with related parties during the year: REZZWT :
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(i) Sales of goods provided to fellow () ARRMBRAIEEER
subsidiaries 3,488,683 4,096,187
(i) Purchases of goods from fellow (i) MR R A RIREE R
subsidiaries 586,463 657,554
(i) Sales of laminates and copper foil to a (i) [ &ARIEA A R EE R EHH
shareholder with significant influence A& 3R 4 & B SN iRk K 4R5E
over the ultimate holding company 455,085 534,466
(iv) Purchases of machineries from a (iv) AIREIER AR AERFE NN
shareholder with significant influence AR ER IR AE I 25
over the ultimate holding company 119,788 115,229

BiE FHRAF14AZE - Fll T SR
RARFERBERS o

The transactions above constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management personnel FEEEAEME
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key EN - EEREMFETRABZHE
management during the year is as follows: U
2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
Short-term employee benefits REEERET 86,827 101,862
Post-employment benefits RIKIETEF 915 895
Share-based payment NI =R 39,378 37,724
127,120 140,481

The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined
with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends.

On 20 March 2022, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a fellow
subsidiary at a cash consideration of HK$100,000 to dispose 100%
of the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary. The subsidiary held
insignificant assets and liabilities at the date of disposal.

EENIBTRABZMESERER
BTRBEMGBHLETE -

WNZZEZZF=A=+H AQF—H
FEEZENBRARE—MRERMEBER
RIFIMEEHE  WHE—EHEQT
2 EDBEITRANI100%  BERE S
100,00058 7T - ZMIB AR EEZ R
BEIFEREERAE -

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

20. AATNEEWBAT
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 R_ZE_=FR_FTE__F+=A
and 2022 are as follows: =+—B  AAREEMBARIZFIE
mT
Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
EMAYL EER BRTR AEEREN
WEARAME RS BRRE/EMER FRERESL TEER
2023 2022
“E-=E ZBZCZF
% %
Excel First Investments Limited British Virgin Islands* US$1 100 100 Investment holding
SRREBRAT EBRRES E REER
KBCF Bermuda* US$72,250,000 100 100 Investment holding
feEhinye] BRE 72,250,000 7T REER
Kingboard Laminates Limited Hong Kong* HK$10,580,002 100 100 Investment holding
BEEERERAR i 10,580,0027%7T REER
Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited British Virgin US$47,057,290 100 100  Investment holding and
BEMABRAR Islands/Hong Kong 47,057,290 7T trading of copper
RBRUHE/BE REBRLIAZES
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC! US$6,115,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Company Limited g 6,115,000% 7T distribution of bleached
RE () @R AR AR kraft paper
HERS ERAREL
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRC US$29,466,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co. Limited ! 29,466,000 T distribution of laminates
BB () BERERAR HWERS EERNER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates PRC' US$17,936,576 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. g 17,936,576 7T distribution of laminates
BE (f:R) BEARER AR ER D EERER
Kingboard Electronic Raw PRC! US$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material (Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd. B 30,000,000 T distribution of laminates
BEETMH (IR) BRAF HERS EERER
Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates PRC HK$242,800,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. ! 242,800,000 T distribution of laminates
TP BEEERER A SHER D HENER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

]|

40. AT ERMELRF 2

ﬁ (g )

(continued)
Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership

registration

share capital/

interest held

Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
TR ERR BRITR AEEREH
WEARER ¥ BEREEMER FEREAL TEER
2023 2022
—E-=E CZEB-CE
% %
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC US$32,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. g 32,000,000% 7T distribution of chemicals
BB OI#) (t TARAR HWERHHCIER
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC US$32,010,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. g 32,010,000% 7T distribution of laminates
BEEER (RIL) BROA SEER D HEIRER
Kingboard (Guangdong) Electronic ~ PRC US$13,700,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Special Materials Co., Ltd. R 13,700,000 T distribution of glass fabric
BE(BR) EFERMHERAR SLER D HRHET
Kingboard (Guangzhou) Advanced ~ PRC' RMB250,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Company Limited HE ARE250,000,0007T distribution of chemicals
BE (BN EFHHEEERAR HWERHHECIER
Kingboard (Jiangyin) Composite PRC US$85,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Co., Ltd. HE! 85,000,000% T distribution of laminates
BB (IR) EamBERAR SEER D HEINER
Jiangmen Kingboard Electronics PRC US$26,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Development Company Limited HE 26,000,000 T distribution of laminates
IFREETERARRRA RS HEINER
Kingboard (Qingyuan) Electronic PRC US$25,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Materials Co., Ltd. g 25,000,0005 7T distribution of glass fabric
BB (BR) ETMHERAR BUER D RSN
Qing Yuan Kai Rong De Electronic ~ PRC! RMB130,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Special Materials Co., Ltd. HE AE130,000,0007T distribution of glass fabric
BRIKEEFERMHERDA BUER D HRSAET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

#

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE

Qing Yuan Chung Shun Century
Electronic Materials Co., Ltd.
BEBEHLEETFHERLRA

Chung Shun Century Electronic

Material (Shixing) Co., Ltd.

BEHLTFIE (BRE) BRAF

Kingboard Laminates (ShaoGuan)

Co., Ltd.
BERER (RE) BRAE

Guangzhou Chung Shun Century
Electronic Materials Manufacturing

Co., Ltd.
EMBEEREFiRESE
BRAA

Kai Rong De (Shao Guan) Glass

Fiber Co., Ltd.

5518 (B9) BABAARAA

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and operation
BRI ETR
X

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

PRC!

e

PRC'
RE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
ERTR
BERA/EMEE

US$72,319,600
72,319,600 7T

RMB50,000,000
AE#50,000,0007

HK$7,000,000
7,000,000 7T

US$44,595,000

44,595,000 T

RMB142,000,000
AE#142,000,0007T

These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal

place of operations.

These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprises. The English names of these companies are for

identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.
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40. ZRREBEMBAR Z
=310y
Proportion of
the ownership
interest held
by the Group Principal activities
AEBEREN
FEREA FEER
2023 2022
—E-=E ZB-CE
% %
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass yam
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
g R EEAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SR D EEIAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass yam
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass fabric
# hERREERAR  WEREZEE
R B o

! WERRTIAINGBECER AT E
FRIZ o % E R R FEATHEMRER -

EXRFAIIRESERRIBFEREEE
BREEZARFMBRR - EFRR
FIHEMH B AR ZFIEEBRILE -

BB AR FAEREEEITEMES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHwRRMEE
40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. X AT EEMH B A T
A
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 18 )
(continued)
General information of principal subsidiaries FERBATEIZ—RER
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other principal REER  KARFEEHARERME
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these TEEANMEMEZNBAR - ZEH
subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities of these BRARKIBHRTBEEE - ZZMBR
subsidiaries are summarised as follows: RIZEBEBHBMIT
Principal place Number of subsidiaries
Principal activities FEEK of business FTEEEMB MEAREE
2023 2022
=B =F —ZE-_—fF
Manufacture and sale of SEERIHEEEIR PRC H 32 31
laminates Thailand EE] 1 1
Macau JEBPY 1 1
34 33
Properties L3 Hong Kong B 2 2
PRC F 8 8
United Kingdom 3 E] 1 1
11 11
Others EAth Hong Kong aBE 36 36
PRC a3 6 6
42 42
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41.

B RS AR M

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

41. PR\ 2 B AR R B s

B

2023 2022
—E_=F T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Non-current assets SEREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENB AR Z&E 5,311,189 5,437,972
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEFAEZZER TR 42,918 185,385
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A RFIE 495,160 503,493
5,849,267 6,126,850

Current assets MEVEE
Other receivables and prepayments H b U BR R R FE S 50E 5 5
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEFAER ERTA 76,005 10,226
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B BB A B FIE 19,863,681 20,070,750
Cash and cash equivalents BENBEEEED 175,210 104,127
20,114,901 20,185,108
Current liabilities mEaE

Other payables HAbFERFIE 53,006 83,751
Dividends payable JET AR 187,200 468,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHYE A RIFRIA 15,898,517 15,001,983
16,138,723 15,653,734
Net current assets MEEEFE 3,976,178 4,631,374
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABRLBAER 9,825,445 10,758,224

Non-current liability ERBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIHT B A RFIE 879,350 1,031,422
Net assets BEFE 8,946,095 9,726,802

Capital and reserves A& R fE
Share capital R A 312,000 312,000
Reserves (Note) G 8,634,095 9,414,802
Total equity BB 8,946,095 9,726,802
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. &XQA T Z B4R B
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY B]E o

(continued)

Note: BEE -
Share-based
Share Translation payments Special Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R
BRipEE BHEE [RER BhIER REER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
(Note a)
(Hfita)
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F-F-H 2,131,768 189,011 - 5,427,130 543,787 8,291,696
Proft for the year and totel comprehensive ~ AEE R RAEE2EREEE
income for the year - - - - 5,749,885 5,749,885
Exchange difference arising on translationto  EHrEE2HEUHmEL 2
presentation currency EizRE - (462,779) - - - (462,779)
Total comprehensive (expense) income REEZA(TH) Kisem
for the year - (462,779 - - 5,749,885 5,087,106
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ BERIAEREE LR M AR
payments . . 48,000 - - 48,000
Final dividend paid for the year ended BREIE=Z=—F+2R
31 December 2021 =T-HZRERE - - - - (3,744,000) (3,744,000
Interim dividend payable for the year ended ~ EREHZ-T--F+=A
31 December 2022 =+-ALEFRZFHRE - - - - (468,000) (468,000)
- (462,779 48,000 - 1,637,885 1,123,106
At 31 December 2022 2,131,768 (273,768) 48,000 5,427,130 2,081,672 9,414,802
Profit for the year and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 108,526 108,526
Exchange difference arising on translation AT EZ2RKEEMEL 2
to presentation currency EXEE - (126,783) - - - (126,783)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for — REEZE (1) KEEE
the year > (126,783) > o 108,526 (18,257)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ BEZMEREENROTAMR
payments - - 48,750 - - 48,750
Final dividend paid for the year ended BREI-E-—%+-R
31 December 2022 =+-AIEER KRS - - - - (624,000) (624,000)
Interim dividend payable for the yearended ~ EffHZ-Z-=F+-A
31 December 2023 =+-ALEFREZRHRE = o o = (187,200) (187,200)
> (126,783) 48,750 > (702,674) (780,707)
At 31 December 2023 W-E-=f+-A=t-A 2,131,768 (400,551) 96,750 5,427,130 1,378,998 8,634,095
Note a: Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the Mizka : AT ZHER ﬁgﬁjﬁa WERB AT
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the BEFEHER ST NEHTERSEA
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s B B EE M IT 2 AN A TIRNDEERE
reorganisation in 2006. 2B ZERE -
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for REETEFEREMEIINTE
investment:

Gross floor Group’s interest
area (m?) rEBEREER
Location Existing use Tenure HEEER 2023 2022
1 2 BRAR ik (FHXK) =ZT==F =—ZT-—F
% %
88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and Commercial Freehold 8,000 100% 100%
7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of [EES KAERE
Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom
Building 14, Kingboard Yueking Commercial Medium term lease 13,000 100% 100%
Garden, Kunshan Development District, [EES mEREEE
Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
HEIEHA R ILTHRERBERRE14571E
Unit Nos. 2301-2303, 26F, 27F, and Commercial Medium term lease 1,800 100% 100%
Car Parking Space No. 9, 10 on 2nd Floor, GES hEREAEE
Overseas Trust Bank Building,
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
BERETITEI60RIMEERITAE
2301-2303% - 261 - 2718 M 212 H9 K 1095 & (L
Vanka Plaza, Level 2 of South Tower Commercial Medium term lease 1,300 100% 100%
No. 17-25 Shui Cheng Nan Road [SES HEIH T E
Changning District, Shanghai, the PRC*
FE BT RERKKEE17-25%
ERES R E
Commercial shops Commercial Medium term lease 11,442 100% 100%
No. 8 Beijiang 1st Road [EES HEIH T E

Qingyuan City, the PRC*
B BRI T — 8% 4
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for
development:

EEEEMERERQF

AEEET2HERRMEIINTE

Group’s interest

Gross floor
area (m2) $$E§
Location Expected use HEEMEE 2023 2022
o 2 mE AR (FFHK) —E-=F —EooF
Huagiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Guixi Road, Residential 500 100% 100%
Huaqiao District, Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC* F=
H BT #8 B LU T 725 & 3R PN pE M RL e B v e B L ER
* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * Y 2 B B RE S R g

purposes only

e

—FFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

RESULTS ¥EiE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=t—HLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NF ZECTF - —F —E- —E-=f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FAEL FAET FAT TExT
Revenue BERE 18,383,952 17,301,186 28,799,810 22,363,680 16,750,248
Profit before taxation KRR T 3,317,220 3,662,665 8,386,915 3,357,766 1,192,926
Income tax expense FTiSHiX (908,490) (854,685) (1,603,436) (1,448,382 (284,282)
Profit for the year REE T 2,408,730 2,807,980 6,783,479 1,909,384 908,644
Attributable to: AT ALEEREE
Owners of the Company KARHERA 2,402,247 2,802,885 6,781,656 1,909,169 907,402
Non-controlling interest IR ER 6,483 5,095 1,823 215 1,242
2,408,730 2,807,980 6,783,479 1,909,384 908,644
DIVIDEND AND BASIC BER
EARNINGS PER SHARE BREXRLF
Dividend per share BiReE HK80.0 cents HK250.0 cents HK150.0 cents HK35.0 cents HK16.0 cents
for the year gs) 80.078 11l 250.075 11l 150.078 1L 35,0781l 16.078 1l
Basic earnings per share ABREARFTER HK78.0 cents  HK90.6 cents HK217.4 cents HK61.2 cents HK29.1 cents
based on reported net profit  FAXEAZF 78,0711l 90.67811l 217.47( 61.2781ll 291384
p: ==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
At 31 December
R+=—HA=+-—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NEF ZE-TF T —F ZEBE--F ZZE-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAT FAT FHET
Total assets BERE 25,803,171 26,375,915 29,821,785 24,299,812 23,562,884
Total liabilities BEBE (7,054,092) (11,987,904) (10,756,661)  (9,227,821)  (8,587,647)
Net assets BEFE 18,749,079 14,388,011 19,065,124 15,071,991 14,975,237
Equity attributable to KARER A
owners of the Company i fag 18,701,422 14,333,065 19,038,483 15,048,892 14,951,235
Non-controlling interests FEFERR i A 47,657 54,946 26,641 23,099 24,002
Total equity BRMBEE 18,749,079 14,388,011 19,065,124 15,071,991 14,975,237
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
BERMALHAMTRBH=RNEERE=T=1

Tel B : (852) 2605 6493 Fax {8E : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail £ : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #831t © http://www.kblaminates.com
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